
 
 
 

Mr S Hearse 
Chief Executive 
Torridge District Council 

Riverbank House 
Bideford 

Devon 
EX39 2QG 
 

Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700 

 

 

 

Date: 22 November 2022 

 

MEETING OF LICENSING  
COMMITTEE 

On: Wednesday 30 November 2022 At: 10.00 am 

Venue: Town Hall - Bridge Street, Bideford, EX39 2HS 

 
Temporary measures during the Coronavirus Pandemic: 

Members of the public attending meetings or taking part in the public forum are advised that 

all Licensing meetings taking place during the Covid-19 Pandemic will be filmed for live 

or subsequent broadcast via the YouTube channel -https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 

 

To: Councillor J McKenzie (Chair) 

Councillor R Wiseman (Vice-Chair) 
Councillors: C Bright, D Bushby, R Clarke, P Hackett, P Hames, S Harding, 

T Inch and D McGeough 

 
Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the meeting 

 

AGENDA 
PART I - (OPEN SESSION) 

  

1.   Apologies For Absence  

 To receive apologies for absence for the meeting. 
 

2.   Minutes (Pages 3 - 6) 

 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 11th May 2022. 
 

3.   Action List (Page 7) 

4.   Declarations of Interests  

 Members with interests to declare should refer to the agenda item and describe the 
nature of their interest when the item is being considered. 

 



 
 

 

5.   Agreement of Agenda Items Part I and II  

6.   Urgent Matters of Information to be Brought Forward with the Permission of the 

Chair and the Committee  

7.   Taxi Demand Survey (Pages 8 - 58) 

 To receive the report of the Lead Licensing Officer. 
 

8.   Animal Licensing Policy (Pages 59 - 95) 

 To receive the report of the Lead Licensing Officer.  
 

9.   Consideration of the Forward Plan (Page 96) 

10.   Exclusion of the Public  

 The Chairman to move:- 
 

That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

 

11.   Part II (CLOSED SESSION)  

 Meeting Organiser: Democratic Services 

 

 



1 
 

 
 

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

LICENSING MEETING 
 

Caddsdown Business Support Centre - Bideford 
 

Wednesday, 11 May 2022 - 10.00 am 

 
PRESENT Councillor J McKenzie (Chair) 

 Councillor R Wiseman (Vice-Chair) 
 

 Councillors C Bright, R Clarke, P Hackett, P Hames, S Harding 

and T Inch 
 

ALSO PRESENT S Dorey 
 
Tope Ojikutu 

- Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring 
Officer) 

- Legal Services Manager  

 C Parkhouse - Lead Licensing Officer 
 T Vanstone - Senior Electoral & Democratic Services 

Officer 
 K Brown - Democratic Services Officer 

 

 
91.    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Bushby. 

 
92.    MINUTES  

 

It was proposed by Councillor Clarke, seconded by Councillor Inch and – 
 

Resolved: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 27th October 2021 be agreed and recorded 

as a correct record. 
 

(Vote: For - Unanimous) 
 

The minutes from the meetings held on 1st December 2021 and 16th March 2022 were 

noted.       

 

93.    ACTION LIST  
 

The action list was discussed and updated.  
 

94.    DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 
Members were reminded that declarations of interest should be made as and when the 

specific agenda item to which they related was under discussion. 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



2 
 

 
 

95.    AGREEMENT OF AGENDA ITEMS PART I AND II  
 

There were no Part II items. 
 

Councillor Hackett left the room at 10.03am. 

 
96.    URGENT MATTERS OF INFORMATION TO BE BROUGHT FORWARD WITH 

THE PERMISSION OF THE CHAIR AND THE COMMITTEE  
 

There were no urgent matters. 

 
97.    SMALL COMMERCIAL VESSEL LICENSING POLICY  

 

The Lead Licensing Officer presented this report, the purpose of which was to 
review and update the Authority’s current licensing policy for small commercial 

vessels in use for sport or pleasure.  
 
A brief discussion took place where the Lead Licensing Officer confirmed that this 

policy refers specifically to the hire of vessels and that any comments should be 
raised through the consultation.  

 
It was confirmed that the consultation would be circulated.  
 

It was proposed by Councillor McKenzie, seconded by Councillor Clarke and – 
Resolved: 

 
1) that the consultation process be approved;  
2) that the consultation on the draft policy be carried out over a 6-week period 

and the responses reported back to this committee at a future date.  
 

(Vote: For - Unanimous) 

 
Councillor Hackett was absent for the vote. 
 

98.    REVIEW OF THE TAXI POLICY  
 

The Lead Licensing Officer presented the report, the purpose of which was to 
present to the Committee the revised Licensing Policy for Taxis and Private Hire 
Licenses.  

 
Following the presentation of the report the Lead Licensing Officer referred to page 

65 of the report – section 1.1 and the first bullet point. He asked the Committee if 
four years was a long enough period for all vehicles to meet or exceed the Euro 6 
Emissions standard? 

 
A discussion took place where it was asked how many vehicles currently meet this 
expectation? The Lead Licensing Officer advised he would ascertain this 

information and circulate to the Committee.  
 

It was proposed by Councillor Inch, seconded by Councillor Harding and – 

Page 4



3 
 

 
 

 
Resolved: 

 
That the time frame to meet the requirements increase from 4 years to 6 years.  

 
(Vote: For 2, Against 4, Abstentions 1) 

 
Councillor Hackett was absent for the vote.  

 

 

It was proposed by Councillor McKenzie, seconded by Councillor Hames and – 

 
Resolved: 
 

That the revised policy be approved and commence on the 1st of June 2022. 
 

(Vote: For - Unanimous) 

 

Councillor Hackett returned to the room at 10.19am but did not take part in the 
vote. 

 
 

99.    REVIEW OF TAXI FARES  
 

The Lead Licensing Officer presented the report, the purpose of which was to 

inform the Committee of the results of a recent fare consultation with hackney 
carriage proprietors and to consider whether to increase the existing fare tariff. 
 

Four members of the Taxi Liaison Committee attended the meeting.  
 

The Lead Licensing Officer referred to page 97 of the report and advised that in 
Table 1 - Option C should state £2.60 per mile thereafter not £2.80. He then 
explained the affect this had on the fare.   

 
A member of the Taxi Liaison Committee addressed the Licensing Committee and 

explained which increased option he would prefer.  
 
A discussion took place where it was confirmed, whichever option was agreed 

would be the maximum amount that could be charged and if individual taxi drivers 
wanted, they could charge less.  

 
Following a query, it was advised that fares would be reviewed again in 12 months’ 
time. 

 
The discussion progressed to the comparison of other Authority’s within Devon and 

their charges. The Chair advised it was hard to compare due to population density 
and the night-time economies.   
 

It was proposed by Councillor Clarke, seconded by Councillor Hames that Option A 
be approved. 

Page 5



4 
 

 
 

 
Following further discussion, it was proposed by Councillor Inch, seconded by 

Councillor Hackett that Option B be approved. 
 

A vote was then taken on the proposal by Councillor Clarke and seconded by 
Councillor Hames and – 
 

Resolved: 
 

That Option A to increase the existing fares be approved and the proposed fares 
advertised for a period of no less than 14 days as required by s65(2) if the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976; and provided there are no 

objections, the proposed fares be introduced on 1st June 2022.  
 

(Vote – For 4, Against 3, Abstention 1) 
 
No vote was taken on the motion to approve Option B.  

 
100.    CONSIDERATION OF THE FORWARD PLAN  

 

The Forward Plan was discussed and updated.  
 

 
The meeting commenced at 10.00 am and closed at 10.40 am 

 
 
Chair:  Date:  

 
 

Page 6



ACTION LIST 

Licensing Committee – For 30th November 22 

 

Minute No. 

Date action raised 
Action By Who 

Date 

Contacted 
Status 

Minute 75 - Minutes 
17 March 2021 

 
 
 

 
 

 
27 Oct 2021 
 

 
 

 
 
11 May 2022 

Minute 73:  22 January 2021 – 
Consideration of the Forward Plan: 

Signage for taxi rank on the quay. 
 
To provide a written update before 

the next meeting of the Licensing 
Committee. 

 
Update from CP confirming Property 
team have this on their agenda. 

Further update to be given at the 
next meeting.  

 
 
CP advised that this was still with the 

Property Services Team to review 
and it would be brought back to a 

future meeting 

The Lead Licensing 
Officer 

17/03/2021 
 

Ongoing 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
Ongoing 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 3



 
  

REPORT OF LEAD LICENSING OFFICER 

To: LICENSING COMMITTEE 

Subject: TAXI DEMAND SURVEY 

Date: 30 NOVEMBER 2022 Reference:  

 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT:     

 
To provide the Committee with the results of the recent hackney carriage demand survey 
 
 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 

 The Council currently restricts the number of hackney carriage vehicle licence plates 

it issues to 49. In order to maintain this restriction the Council is required to 
undertake a formal hackney carriage demand survey every 3 years. This report 

details the findings of the latest survey. 
 

 
2. REPORT 

 

The current legal basis for a restriction on numbers is contained within Section 16 of 
the Transport Act 1985 which allows a licensing authority to limit the number of 
hackney carriage licences it issues but only ‘if the person authorised to grant such 

licences is satisfied that there is no significant demand for the services of hackney 
carriages within the area which is unmet’. 

 
The Council’s current policy of restricting hackney carriage vehicle licences has been 
in place for a number of years and was last reviewed by this Committee on 23rd 

October 2019. Guidance issued by the Department for Transport recommends that 
surveys should be repeated every 3 years. Therefore, the policy is now due for 

review. 
 
The Council employed the services of a company called Licensed Vehicle Surveys 

and Assessment (LVSA) to conduct the latest survey. The survey is paid for by the 
trade via a supplement added onto the fees charged for a hackney carriage vehicle 

licence. The final report was provided in the end of October 2022. This report is 
provided in Appendix A. 
 

It should be noted that although the current limit on plates is 49, two dedicated 
wheelchair accessible vehicle plates have been returned to the Authority during the 

year. It was decided not to issue these plates whilst the survey was ongoing. 
 
The survey this year has produced different results to those untaken in previous 

years. The reason for this is the significant disruption caused by the Covid-19 
pandemic which has had a big impact on the taxi trade. 

 
The key points from the survey are as follows: 
 

Page 8

Agenda Item 7



 
  

The overall view of the current status of the licensed vehicle trade in Torridge remains 
generally positive. 

 
The pandemic appears to have taken away the relative stability of demand seeing 40% less 

demand now at the rank. It is accepted that the main night demand generator had not re-
opened at the time of the survey. 
 

Resulting average passenger levels are just nine passengers per hour from the rank 
although peak demand remains on Friday and Saturday nights.  

 
The level of vehicles servicing the rank appears to have reduced from 83% in 2019 to 64%. 
 

Unmet demand for hackney carriages is now occurring more despite the reduced overall 
level of demand. This is because supply to the rank has reduced more than the demand 

has particularly on Saturday evenings. 
 
Despite this, public views of the service have significantly improved. 

 
The driver survey found just three hackney carriages whose principal work was from ranks, 

most said rank demand provided between ten and 35% of their work. Most drivers now 
chose when they preferred to work.  
 

The limit remained supported across the trade and many said it provided a better service 
with a focussed number of drivers and better remuneration allowing higher vehicle 

standards and maintenance than a free market situation would predicate.  
 
It appears that the revision of demand has allowed many more to achieve their required 

level of remuneration during the week compounding the lower Saturday night demand 
impact seeing even less vehicles active then. 

 
The number of hours of very low (thin) demand has also increased and much of the unmet 
demand occurs at these times when it is very hard to match supply and demand cost-

effectively. However, 53% of all observed passenger delay occurs from 17:00 Saturday to 
0159 Sunday – despite an estimated peak vehicle need of no more than ten to adequately 

service that demand. 
 
Taking all evidence into account, the present hackney carriage service seems to be in a 

relatively healthy position, providing public benefit arising partly from the limit policy. The 
‘new normal’ does not yet seem to have achieved a balance between driver operating 

practice and passenger demand which leads to the industry standard analysis suggesting 
significantly poorer public service, yet with actual public views suggesting they are generally 
happier with the overall service now. 

  
The only recommendations for improvement of the overall service are a possible need to 

consider higher night fares and a reminder to the hackney carriage trade that their principal 
objective is serving the rank, even if this is at times when demand there is low. This covers 
both the Saturday night period but also the early mornings. 

 
There needs to be an honest discussion with drivers whose apparent focus on lifestyle 

choices is possibly reducing supply at times when demand – although reduced – still needs 
more vehicle active than are presenting themselves. 

Page 9



 
  

Were it to become clear there was an unwillingness to service such demand, it may be 
necessary to either issue more plates or remove the limit to allow others to service the 

observed demand. However, it should also be remembered that with overall low demand 
such an action might be counter-productive removing many experienced players who might 

consider the remuneration insufficient to continue their involvement.  
 
To reiterate, at this time we would not recommend any other action than ensuring any 

plates not on issue can be reissued and a reminder that hackney carriage plates are issued 
to service the public ranks available. 

 
It may be that the re-opening of the main night demand generator could draw more drivers 
and improve the overall situation, but it may also be prudent to test levels of service 

provided within three months of the re-opening of that venue to identify if a sufficient 
balance to protect public safety had been achieved. Sufficient service to that venue is 

important to ensure its future is enhanced by the ability of patrons to get home safely. 
   

 
3. IMPLICATIONS 

 
Legal Implications  
None - The results of the survey provide sufficient evidence to defend the policy restriction if it is 
challenged in court. 
 
Financial Implications 
None – the cost of the survey is funded by a surcharge on hackney carriage vehicle licence fees. 
 
Human Resources Implications 
None 
 
Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications 
None 
 
Equality/Diversity 
None 
 
Risk Management 
There are no legal, financial or reputational risks with maintaining the restriction policy. 
 
Compliance with Policies and Strategies 
Complies with the current taxi policy 
 
Data Protection (GDPR) Implications 
None 
 
Climate Change 
It could be argued that if the Council were to issue more taxi plates there would be increased 
pollution in the town centre as more taxis would be using the rank. 
 
Ward Member and Lead Member Views 
None 

 
 
 
 

Page 10



 
  

 

4. CONCLUSIONS 
 

The general outcome of the survey is that rank usage has significantly reduced. This has 
resulted in a reduction in vehicles servicing the rank, partly due to lifestyle choices. 
Therefore, there has been an increase in periods of unmet demand, although, much of the 

unmet demand occurs at times of low demand when it is very hard to match supply and 
demand cost-effectively. 

 
The report recommends the Authority issues the two plates which are available but there is 
no need to issue any further plates or to remove the current limit. 

 
5. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

It is recommended the Committee approve the issue of the two available plates and retain 
the limit of 49 plates for a further 3 years. 

 
 
 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 
 Consultations: Taxi Liaison Committee 

 Contact Officer: Chris Parkhouse 

 Background Papers: Licensing data area/files 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



 

 

 

Torridge District Council 

Survey of demand for hackney carriages 

October 2022 

 

 

Page 12



  

Page 13



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

i 
 

Executive Summary 
This survey of demand for hackney carriages has been undertaken on behalf 

of Torridge District Council following the guidance of the April 2010 DfT Best 

Practice Guidance document, and all relevant case history in regard to unmet 

demand. This Executive Summary draws together key points from the main 

report that are needed to allow a committee to determine from the facts 

presented their current position in regard to the policy of limiting hackney 

carriage vehicle licences according to Section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act. It 

is a summary of the main report which follows and should not be relied upon 

solely to justify any decisions of a committee but must be read in conjunction 

with the full report below. 

The 2022 survey, the latest in a series of tests of the level of unmet demand, 

saw the bulk of survey work in May/June 2022 at a similar time to previous 

data collection. The present relatively small overall licensed vehicle fleet has a 

complex operating structure. Three of the fleet specifically work the niche 

Clovelly Taxibus service. Excluding these vehicles, the principal publicly 

available operating section are the 19% of the total licensed vehicle fleet that 

operate for five mixed hackney carriage / private hire companies. 18% (was 

17%) of the fleet are independent hackney carriages. 28% of the fleet are in 

pure private hire vehicle only companies. The final 28% (increased from 22% 

in the previous survey) of the fleet are mainly used on non-public contract 

work. The upshot of all this is that 52% of the total licensed vehicle fleet are 

available to the public at the main rank in Bideford whilst 54% of the entire 

fleet are directly available by phone. 

The overall view of the current status of the licensed vehicle trade in Torridge 

remains generally positive. The pandemic appears to have taken away the 

relative stability of demand seeing 40% less demand now at the only rank 

(although a similar drop in demand occurred from 2012 to 2016). It is accepted 

that the main night demand generator had not re-opened at the time of the 

survey. Resulting average passenger levels are just nine passengers per hour 

from the rank although peak demand remains on Friday and Saturday nights. 

The level of vehicles servicing the rank appears to have reduced from 83% in 

2019 to 64% now, with two plates no longer in use the actual number of 

vehicles is reduced more than that statistic suggests. 

Unmet demand for hackney carriages is now occurring more despite the 

reduced overall level of demand. This is because supply to the rank has 

reduced more than the demand has particularly on Saturday evenings. Despite 

this, public views of the service have significantly improved. 14% of 

respondents said they were dependent on licensed vehicles for trips, with 24% 

of these people using them for hospital visits, 19% for the weekly shop, 14% 

for nights out and 10% to visit friends and relatives. 

Page 14



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

ii 
 

The well-supported driver survey found just three hackney carriages whose 

principal work was from ranks, most said rank demand provided between ten 

and 35% of their work. Most drivers now chose when they preferred to work 

against other reasons. Half the responding hackney carriages said they service 

the rank. The limit remained supported across the trade and many said it 

provided a better service with a focussed number of drivers and better 

remuneration allowing higher vehicle standards and maintenance than a free 

market situation would predicate.  

It appears that the revision of demand has allowed many more to achieve their 

required level of remuneration during the week compounding the lower 

Saturday night demand impact seeing even less vehicles active then. The 

number of hours of very low (thin) demand has also increased and much of 

the unmet demand occurs at these times when it is very hard to match supply 

and demand cost-effectively. However, 53% of all observed passenger delay 

occurs from 17:00 Saturday to 0159 Sunday – despite an estimated peak 

vehicle need of no more than ten to adequately service that demand. 

Taking all evidence into account, the present hackney carriage service seems 

to be in a relatively healthy position, providing public benefit arising partly 

from the limit policy. The ‘new normal’ does not yet seem to have achieved a 

balance between driver operating practice and passenger demand which leads 

to the industry standard analysis suggesting significantly poorer public service, 

yet with actual public views suggesting they are generally happier with the 

overall service now.  

The only recommendations for improvement of the overall service are a 

possible need to consider higher night fares and a reminder to the hackney 

carriage trade that their principal objective is serving the rank, even if this is 

at times when demand there is low. This covers both the Saturday night period 

but also the early mornings. 

There needs to be an honest discussion with drivers whose apparent focus on 

lifestyle choices is possibly reducing supply at times when demand – although 

reduced – still needs more vehicle active than are presenting themselves. Were 

it to become clear there was an unwillingness to service such demand, it may 

be necessary to either issue more plates or remove the limit to allow others to 

service the observed demand. However, it should also be remembered that 

with overall low demand such an action might be counter-productive removing 

many experienced players who might consider the remuneration insufficient to 

continue their involvement.  

To reiterate, at this time we would not recommend any other action than 

ensuring any plates not on issue can be reissued and a reminder that hackney 

carriage plates are issued to service the public ranks available. 

Page 15



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

iii 
 

 

It may be that the re-opening of the main night demand generator could draw 

more drivers and improve the overall situation, but it may also be prudent to 

test levels of service provided within three months of the re-opening of that 

venue to identify if a sufficient balance to protect public safety had been 

achieved. Sufficient service to that venue is important to ensure its future is 

enhanced by the ability of patrons to get home safely. 

   

  

Page 16



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

iv 
 

 

Contents 
Executive Summary ..................................................          i 

Contents ........................................................................         iv 

1 General introduction and background ...........         0 

2 Local background and context ..........................         7 

3 Patent demand measurement (rank surveys)     14 

4 General public views .............................................      19 

5 Key stakeholder consultation ............................            24 

6 Trade stakeholder views .....................................            25 

7 Evaluation of unmet demand and its significance   29 

8 Summary, synthesis and study conclusions     33 

9 Recommendations .................................................     40 

 

  

Page 17



1 General introduction and background  
Torridge District Council is responsible for the licensing of hackney carriage 

and private hire vehicles operating within the Council area and is the licensing 

authority for this complete area. Further details of the local application of 

Section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act with regard to limiting hackney carriage 

vehicle numbers is provided in further Chapters of this report. Hackney 

carriage vehicle licences are the only part of licensing where such a stipulation 

occurs and there is no legal means by which either private hire vehicle 

numbers, private hire or hackney carriage driver numbers, or the number of 

private hire operators can be limited.  

This review of current policy is based on the Best Practice Guidance produced 

by the Department for Transport in April 2010 (BPG). It seeks to provide 

information to the licensing authority to meet section 16 of the Transport Act 

1985 “that the grant of a hackney carriage vehicle licence may be refused if, 

but only if, the licensing authority is satisfied that there is no significant 

demand for the services of hackney carriages within its local area, which is 

unmet.” This terminology is typically shortened to “no SUD”. 

Current hackney carriage, private hire and operator licensing is undertaken 

within the legal frameworks first set by the Town Polices Clause Act 1847 

(TPCA), amended and supplemented by various following legislation including 

the Transport Act 1985, Section 16 in regard to hackney carriage vehicle limits, 

and by the Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976 with reference 

to private hire vehicles and operations. This latter Act saw application of 

regulation to the then growing private hire sector which had not been 

previously part of the TPCA. Many of the aspects of these laws have been 

tested and refined by other more recent legislation and more importantly 

through case law.  

Beyond legislation, the experience of the person in the street tends to see both 

hackney carriage and private hire vehicles both as ‘taxis’ – a term we will try 

for the sake of clarity to use only in its generic sense within the report. We will 

use the term ‘licensed vehicle’ to refer to both hackney carriage and private 

hire. 

The legislation around licensed vehicles and their drivers has been the subject 

of many attempts at review. The limiting of hackney carriage vehicle numbers 

has been a particular concern as it is often considered to be a restrictive 

practice and against natural economic trends. The current BPG in fact says 

“most local licensing authorities do not impose quantity restrictions, the 

Department regards that as best practice”.  

Page 18



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

1 
 

The most recent reviews were by the Office of Fair Trading in 2003, through 

the production of the BPG in 2010, the Law Commission review which published 

its results in 2014, the Parliamentary Task and Finish Group which reported in 

September 2018, the Government Response in February 2019, the 

consultation on “Protecting Users” which resulted in the issue of the “Statutory 

Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards” (STPHVS) on 23rd July 2020, and the 

most recent consultation on the wider revision of the 2010 Best Practice 

Guidance, the results of which are due imminently (but with no date yet given). 

None of these resulted in any material change to the legislation involved in 

licensing and specifically with respect to unmet demand and vehicle limits. 

Other groups have provided their comments (including the Urban Transport 

Group and the Competition and Markets Authority) but the upshot remains no 

change in legislation from that already stated above. There have, however, 

been two new Acts enacted in 2022. 

The Taxi and PHV (Disabled Persons Bill) Act 2022 further strengthens the 

requirement on drivers with regard to the council listing and seeks to ensure 

disabled people can use taxi and PHV services with confidence they will not be 

discriminated against. It was made active in April 2022. 

The Taxi and PHV (Safeguarding and Road Safety) requires all authorities to 

share information about drivers and was made active on 31st May 2022. 

The STPHVS required update to be provided to the DfT by early 2022 in regard 

to: 

- Production of a comprehensive policy document 

- Review of CCTV mandation and value 

- Documentation of passenger complaints. 

 

Limitation Policy 

With respect to the principal subject of this survey, local authorities retain the 

right to restrict the number of hackney carriage vehicle licenses. The Law 

Commission conclusion included retention of the power to limit hackney 

carriage vehicle numbers but utilizing a public interest test determined by the 

Secretary of State. It also suggested the three- year horizon also be used for 

rank reviews and accessibility reviews. It is assumed the Government response 

to the Task and Finish Group and the consultation on the revisions to the BPG 

2010 is now effectively the current reaction to this extensive research. 

 

Page 19



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

2 
 

A more recent restriction, often applied to areas where there is no ‘quantity’ 

control felt to exist per-se, is that of ‘quality control’. This is often a pseudonym 

for a restriction that any new hackney carriage vehicle licence must be for a 

wheel chair accessible vehicle, of various kinds as determined locally. In many 

places this implies a restricted number of saloon style hackney carriage 

licences are available, which often are given ‘grandfather’ rights to remain as 

saloon style. 

Within this quality restriction, there are various levels of strength of the types 

of vehicles allowed. The tightest restriction, now only retained by a few 

authorities only allows ‘London’ style wheel chair accessible vehicles, restricted 

to those with a 25-foot turning circle, and at the present time principally the 

LTI Tx, the Mercedes Vito special edition with steerable rear axle, and the 

Metrocab (no longer produced).  

Others allow a wider range of van style conversions in their wheel chair 

accessible fleet, whilst some go as far as also allowing rear-loading 

conversions. Given the additional price of these vehicles, this often implies a 

restriction on entry to the hackney carriage trade. 

Some authorities do not allow vehicles which appear to be hackney carriage, 

i.e. mainly the London style vehicles, to be within the private hire fleet, whilst 

others do allow wheel chair vehicles. The most usual method of distinguishing 

between hackney carriages and private hire is a ‘Taxi’ roof sign on the vehicle, 

although again some areas do allow roof signs on private hire as long as they 

do not say ‘Taxi’, some turn those signs at right angles, whilst others apply 

liveries, mainly to hackney carriage fleets, but sometimes also to private hire 

fleets. 

Review of unmet demand 

After introduction of the 1985 Transport Act, Leeds University Institute for 

Transport Studies developed a tool by which unmet demand could be evaluated 

and a determination made if this was significant or not. The tool was taken 

forward and developed as more studies were undertaken. Over time this ‘index 

of significance of unmet demand’ (ISUD) became accepted as an industry 

standard tool to be used for this purpose. Some revisions have been made 

following the few but specific court cases where various parties have 

challenged the policy of retaining a limit. 

 

 

 

Page 20



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

3 
 

This tool effectively summarises the level of service to the public in the form 

of an index taking into account various elements including average passenger 

delay (APD), proportion of non-peak hours with APD a minute or more, 

proportion of all passengers travelling in hours with APD a minute or more, a 

seasonal factor, a peakiness factor and a latent demand factor.  Where the 

index result is 80 or more this is taken to denote that the observed unmet 

demand result is significant. It must be remembered that the index is 

exponential so it can quickly increase as values deteriorate in the direction of 

unmet demand growth. 

Some of the application has differed between Scottish and English authority’s. 

This is mainly due to some court cases in Scotland taking interpretation of the 

duty of the licensing authority further than is usual in England and Wales, 

requiring current knowledge of the status of unmet demand at all times, rather 

than just at the snap-shot taken every three years. However, the three-year 

survey horizon has become generally accepted given the advice of the BPG 

and most locations that review regularly do within that timescale. 

The DfT asked in writing in 2004 for all licensing authorities with quantity 

restrictions to review them, publish their justification by March 2005, and then 

review at least every three years since then. In due course, this led to a 

summary of the government guidance which was last updated in England and 

Wales in 2010 (but more recently in Scotland). 

The BPG in 2010 also provided additional suggestions of how these surveys 

should be undertaken, albeit in general but fairly extensive terms. A key 

encouragement within the BPG is that “an interval of three years is commonly 

regarded as the maximum reasonable period between surveys”. BPG suggests 

key points in consideration are passenger waiting times at ranks, for street 

hailings and telephone bookings, latent and peaked demand, wide consultation 

and publication of “all the evidence gathered”. This BPG applied at the time of 

the undertaking of the surveys for this study. 

Recent Changes 

The most recent changes in legislation regarding licensed vehicles have been 

enactment of the parts of the Equality Act related to guidance dogs (sections 

168 to 171, enacted in October 2010), the two clauses of the Deregulation Act 

which were successful in proceeding, relating to length of period each license 

covers and to allowing operators to transfer work across borders (enacted in 

October 2015), and most recently enactment of Sections 165 and 167 of the 

Equality Act, albeit on a permissive basis (see below). 

 

Page 21



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

4 
 

In November 2016, the DfT undertook a consultation regarding enacting 

Sections 167 and 165 of the Equality Act. These allow for all vehicles capable 

of carrying a wheel chair to be placed on a list by the local council (section 

167). Any driver using a vehicle on this list then has a duty under section 165 

to:  

- Carry the passenger while in the wheel chair 

- Not make any additional charge for doing so 

- If the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat to carry the wheel 

chair 

- To take such steps as are necessary to ensure that the passenger is 

carried in safety and reasonable comfort  

- To give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably required 

This was enacted from April 2017. There remains no confirmation of any 

timetable for instigating either the remainder of the Equality Act or the Law 

Commission recommendations, or for the acceptance of the consultation 

results on the update of the BPG. The two 2022 Acts revising driver records 

and disability discrimination in more detail were listed above. 

In respect to case law impinging on unmet demand, the two most recent cases 

were in 1987 and 2002. The first case (R v Great Yarmouth) concluded 

authorities must consider the view of significant unmet demand as a whole, 

not condescending to detailed consideration of the position in every limited 

area, i.e. to consider significance of unmet demand over the area as a whole. 

R v Castle Point considered the issue of latent, or preferably termed, 

suppressed demand consideration. This clarified that this element relates only 

to the element which is measurable. Measurable suppressed demand includes 

inappropriately met demand (taken by private hire vehicles in situations legally 

hackney carriage opportunities) or those forced to use less satisfactory 

methods to get home (principally walking, i.e. those observed to walk away 

from rank locations).  

In general, industry standards suggest (but specifically do not mandate in any 

way) that the determination of conclusions about significance of unmet 

demand should take into account the practicability of improving the standard 

of service through the increase of supply of vehicles.  

It is also felt important to have consistent treatment of authorities as well as 

for the same authority over time, although apart from the general guidance of 

the BPG there is no clear stipulations as to what this means in reality, and 

certainly no mandatory nor significant court guidance in this regard. 

Page 22



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

5 
 

During September 2018 the All-Party Parliamentary Group on taxis produced 

its long-awaited Final Report. There was a generally accepted call for revision 

to taxi licensing legislation and practice, including encouragement for local 

authorities to move towards some of the practical suggestions made within the 

Report. The Government has broadly supported the recommendations of this 

Task and Finish Group. 

Despite some opposition from members of the group, the right to retain limits 

on hackney carriage vehicle numbers was supported, with many also 

supporting adding a tool which would allow private hire numbers to be limited 

where appropriate, given reasonable explanation of the expected public 

interest gains. This latter option is now being taken forward in Scotland, with 

two studies published and the Scottish Government preparing guidance, 

although the Government response did not support this option. 

As already stated, other groups have provided comments giving their views 

about licensing matters but the upshot remains no change in legislation from 

that already stated above.  

Policy conclusion 

In conclusion, the present legislation in England and Wales sees public fare-

paying passenger carrying vehicles firstly split by passenger capacity. All 

vehicles able to carry nine or more passengers are dealt with under national 

public service vehicle licensing. Local licensing authorities only have 

jurisdiction over vehicles carrying eight or less passengers. Further, the 

jurisdiction focusses on the vehicles, drivers and operators but rarely extends 

to the physical infrastructure these use (principally ranks). 

The vehicles are split between hackney carriages which are alone able to wait 

at ranks or pick up people in the streets without a booking, and private hire 

who can only be used with a booking made through an operator. If any 

passenger uses a private hire vehicle without such a properly made booking, 

they are not generally considered to be insured for their journey. 

Drivers can either be split between ability to drive either hackney carriage or 

private hire, or be ‘dual’, allowed to drive either kind of vehicle. Whilst a private 

hire driver can only take bookings via an operator, with the ‘triple-lock’ 

applying that the vehicle, driver and operator must all be with the same 

authority, a hackney carriage driver can accept bookings on-street or by phone 

without the same stipulation required for private hire. 

 

 

Page 23



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

6 
 

Cross border issues 

Recent legislation needing clarification has some operators believing they can 

use vehicles from any authority as long as they are legally licensed as private 

hire. At first, under the ‘Stockton’ case, this was hackney carriages operating 

as private hire in other areas (cross-border hiring). More recently, under the 

Deregulation Act, private hire companies are able to subcontract bookings to 

other companies in other areas if they are unable to fulfil their booking, but 

the interpretation of this has become quite wide. 

The ‘triple lock’ licensing rule has also become accepted. A vehicle, driver and 

operator must all be under the same licensing authority to provide full 

protection to the passenger. However, it is also accepted that a customer can 

call any private hire company anywhere to provide their transport although 

many would not realise that if there was an issue it would be hard for a local 

authority to follow this up unless the triple lock was in place by the vehicle 

used and was for the area the customer contacted licensing. 

Further, introduction of recent methods of obtaining vehicles, principally using 

‘apps’ on mobile phones have also led to confusion as to how ‘apps’ usage sits 

with present legislation.  

All these matters can impact on hackney carriage services, their usage, and 

therefore on unmet demand and its significance. 

  

Page 24



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

7 
 

2 Local background and context 
Key dates for this survey of demand for hackney carriages for Torridge District 

Council are: 

- appointed Licensed Vehicle Surveys and Assessment (LVSA) on 7 April 

2022  

- in accordance with our proposal of February 2022  

- as confirmed during the inception meeting for the survey held on 

Monday 11th April 2019 

- this survey was carried out between May and September 2022 

- On street pedestrian survey work occurred in May 2022 

- the video rank observations occurred in mid-May 2019 (in a non-bank 

holiday week)  

- Licensed vehicle driver opinions and operating practices were canvassed 

by an all-driver survey undertaken through June and July 2019 

- Key stakeholders were consulted throughout the period of the survey 

- A draft of this Final Report was reviewed by the client 

- and reported to the appropriate Council committee following acceptance 

by the client of the report. 

Torridge is a District Council, and in terms of background council policy able to 

provide inputs to the higher-level Devon, County authority. However, it does 

not have direct authority over either rank provision or transport policy. The 

authority is part of an informal Licensing Officers Group for the County. 

The authority has a current population of 68,100 (2021) using the initial results 

from the 2021 census. This is lower than the estimated 69,754 for 2021 from 

the 2011 census projections. 

Torridge District Council has chosen to utilize its power to limit hackney 

carriage vehicle numbers, and as far as we are aware has done so since 2001, 

with one issue of extra plates. This issue was a very specific three vehicles 

provided for the operation of the regular service provided by the Clovelly 

Estates taxi-bus service which partially operates on public roads and therefore 

was deemed to require hackney carriage licences. These vehicles are very 

specifically tailored to this service and are very unlikely ever to see usage at 

the rank in Bideford. 

 

 

 

Page 25



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

8 
 

By drawing together published statistics from both the Department for 

Transport (D) and the National Private Hire Association (N), supplemented by 

private information from the licensing authority records (C), recent trends in 

vehicle, driver and operator numbers can be observed. The detailed numbers 

supporting the picture below are provided in Appendix 1. Due to the 

comparative size, the operator figures are shown in the second picture. 

Page 26



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

9 
 

 

Licensing Statistics from 1994 to date 

47
45 46

42

46 46

50 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49
47 47

18

29
31

40 40 40 41 40

45

51
53

48
51

43

55

59

66

58 58

68
71

77
80

63

75
73

86 86

90 90 89

94

100
102

97
100

92

104

108

115

107 107

117
120

124
127

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Torridge licensed vehicles and drivers

hcv phv lv total hcd phd dd total d

Page 27



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

10 
 

The graph above shows a general increase in the level of private hire vehicles 

in the area with a dip around the time of the last survey but continued growth 

since then. This is understood to be related to vehicles working on education 

contracts. For the first time since 2007 there have been two hackney carriage 

plates no longer actively on issue. 

 

It is only really since 2015 that there has been more private hire in Torridge 

than hackney carriages. That difference in numbers has now become 

significant and seems to reflect the principally rural nature of the area where 

a high proportion of trips are almost certainly booked – and with the experience 

of attempting to generate other ranks – seems to be confirmed that the 

hackney carriages principally meet the Bideford urban demand. However, 

other evidence presented below suggests that the bulk of at least Bideford 

licensed vehicle demand is met by hackney carriages or private hire companies 

with a mix of both hackney carriage and private hire vehicles in their fleets. 

 

Drivers in the area have held ‘dual’ licences since statistics were first made 

available, meaning they can drive either hackney carriage or private hire and 

the general trend in numbers continues to be upwards, albeit with a slight drop 

around the last survey. However, it is not possible to compare driver numbers 

to specific vehicle types given their dual status. 

 

Information is also available from these sources to show how the level of 

wheelchair accessible vehicles (WAV) has varied. It must be noted that in most 

cases the values for the private hire side tend to be much more approximate 

than those on the hackney carriage side, as there is no option to mandate for 

private hire being wheelchair accessible. In some areas, to strengthen the 

ability of the public to differentiate between the two parts of the licensed 

vehicle trade, licensing authorities might not allow any WAV in the private hire 

fleet at all.  

Page 28



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

11 
 

 

Operator numbers and levels of WAV provision in the fleet 

This graph shows the level of wheelchair accessible vehicles (WAV) reduced 

around 2011, remained static at 8% but most recently has dropped to just 4% 

(the two hackney carriage vehicles whose plates were handed back were WAV 

style).  

 

 

 

4

13

7

9 9
10 10 10 10

8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

4 4

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Torridge - operators and % WAV in fleets

Operators % hcv WAV % phv WAV

Page 29



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

12 
 

To put this value in context, in the DfT 2022 statistics there were 280 English 

licensing authorities excluding London. For these, the average level of hcv WAV 

is 40%. However, of these, 58 had 100% WAV hackney carriage fleets. A 

further 16 had no hackney carriage WAV in their fleets at all. If these are 

excluded, the average WAV level reduces to 22% for those with mixed WAV / 

non-WAV fleets.  

From this sub-set, 21% of authorities have 3% or less WAV; 6% have 4% 

(same as Torridge), 73% have 5% or more WAV in their hackney carriage 

fleets. The DfT action level targeting encouraging increased WAV percentages 

is at present 5%. All these suggest Torridge in a more favourable position in 

regard to WAV levels than at first sight, though the halving to just two vehicles 

is of concern. 

Private hire operator numbers have been showing a general decline since a 

peak in 2012, although there was a larger drop to 2015, an increase but then 

steady decline since. However, overall numbers of operators are low given the 

small size of the total fleet. This still provides significant levels of competition 

albeit between the relatively small companies, many of which have mixed 

hackney carriage and private hire vehicles. 

Torridge undertakes regular review of its policy to limit hackney carriage 

vehicle numbers in line with the BPG. The previous surveys were in 2019, 

2016, 2012 and 2008, with a rank demand review only undertaken in 

December 2017. 

Fleet structure 

Details were obtained of the overall structure of the licensed vehicle fleet in 

the District. The statistics below ignore the very specific three hackney carriage 

vehicles operating the Clovelly taxi bus service. 

There are 16 private hire companies covering the 80 private hire vehicles. 44% 

(40% in 2019) of the private hire fleet is allied to a company which undertakes 

principally contracts and which also operates psv sized vehicles, and has none 

of its vehicles readily available to the public for direct public hire.  

15% (14% in 2019) of the private hire fleet are one or two vehicle companies 

who are therefore limited in their operations. There are two other pure private 

hire companies that account for 17% and 14% of the fleet (was 15% and 5% 

2019). 

The remaining 10% of the private hire fleet operate for five (was six in 2019) 

companies all of whom also operate hackney carriage vehicles, i.e. mixed 

fleets. These companies range from two to 12 vehicles, with the top two having 

Page 30



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

13 
 

eight and 12 vehicles in total respectively, both of whom also have booking 

offices in Bideford centre, one very close to the rank and the other a little 

further away.  

These mixed vehicle fleets account for 32% of the hackney carriage fleet. 

There are three hackney carriage only fleet agglomerations accounting for 17% 

of the hackney carriage fleet. This leaves 51% of the hackney carriage vehicle 

fleet operating fully independently.  

Overall, 17% of the total licensed vehicle fleet can operate at ranks, but if the 

large non-public fleet is removed from the overall total, this proportion rises 

to 52% of the public available fleet (and would be higher if all on-publicly 

available vehicles were excluded). Again, this strengthens the potential for the 

public to see principally hackney carriages when using licensed vehicles. 

In summary (of the full licensed vehicle fleet): 

- 28% (was 22%) of licensed vehicles are contract only 

- 19% are in mixed private hire / hackney carriage companies 

- 7% are in pure hackney carriage only agglomerations 

- 28% are in pure private hire companies 

- 18% are independent hackney carriages 

- At least 52% of the publicly available licensed vehicle fleet are 

hackney carriages 

 

Further discussion of the implications of this relatively complex fleet structure 

are provided in the synthesis section of this Report. 

  

Page 31



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

14 
 

3 Patent demand measurement (rank surveys) 
As already recorded in Chapter 2, control of provision of on-street ranks in 

Torridge is the responsibility of Devon County Council, who typically work with 

the District to implement or modify ranks.  

Our methodology involves a current review both in advance of submitting our 

proposal to undertake this survey of demand for hackney carriages and at the 

study inception meeting, together with site visits where considered necessary. 

This provides a valid and appropriate sample of rank coverage which is 

important to feed the numeric evaluation of the level of unmet demand, and 

its significance (see discussion in Chapter 7). Detailed results by rank, day and 

hour are in Appendix 2. 

Since the last survey, rank provision has remained focussed completely on the 

main rank in central Bideford on the quay side, which is supplemented from 

midnight to 06:00 by additional spaces on the town side of the road. The extra 

provision along the Harbourside is no longer available. 

For completeness, over the years there have been a number of attempts to 

encourage further rank provision both across the District and within Bideford 

but none of these have been successful. The Holsworthy Square rank was 

removed by the County authority for lack of use some years ago. Bideford 

locations in Bridgeland Street and more recently near the Quayside Café have 

not seen any usage. Much of this relates to the level of demand required to 

encourage development of active ranks which is supplemented by lower 

demand locations seeing service in response to customers calling for vehicles, 

many of which are actually hackney carriages operating for private hire. This 

tends to be a much more business effective way of operating both for the driver 

and the customer, although the typical response time for a passenger will tend 

to be longer than just turning up at a rank that is active. 

Our observation of the Bideford rank takes account of both the 24-hour and 

night location, and follows any change in operation that occurs between the 

two different layouts.  

The rank was observed using video methods with fully trained staff and 

analysis tailored to provide details of the usage of the rank with waiting times 

summarised by hour for both vehicles and passengers. Passenger waiting 

times relate to true unmet demand, i.e. when passengers arrive to find no 

hackney carriage vehicle available for immediate hire or any queues built up 

following such incidents. 

 

Page 32



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

15 
 

Daily data was used to produce an estimated weekly demand level as shown 

in the Table below: 

Rank 2022 2019 2017 (Dec) 2016 2012 2008 

Bideford 1,180 1,958 2,032 2,339 1,652 2,013 

Quayside Café Unobserved Unobserved Unobserved 7 Not 
there 

Not 
there 

Holsworthy Square Gone Gone Gone Gone 10 Unused 

Total Demand 1,180 1,958 2,032 2,346 1,662 2,013 

Comparison to 
previous year 

-40% -4% -13% +41% -17%  

 

The table shows there are an estimated 1,180 passengers per week leaving 

the Torridge rank provision in a typical week. This is 40% less than the 

information gathered in a similar month three years ago. 

The table below considers passenger numbers for each of the days actually 

observed. 

 2020 2019 2017 (Dec) 2016 

Thursday 135 218 230 Not observed 

Friday 238 306 435 289 

Saturday 268 520 451 533 

3-day total 641 1,044 1,116 n/a 

 

The table shows the general trend of a 40% reduction does vary by day. 

Thursday is closest to the average whilst Friday flows are down 22% and 

Saturday 48%.  

The hourly flows for the 2022 survey are shown graphically below: 

Page 33



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

16 
 

 

 

This graph shows that the overall demand at the rank remains with a sharp 

peak on both Friday and Saturday nights, after both demand drops to a very 

low level. There is no usage of the rank in the 01:00 to 05:00 hours on Friday, 

03:00 to 06:00 on Saturday and 04:00 to 05:00 on Sunday, further confirming 

the concentration of rank usage towards the weekend days. Compared to 2016 

when the peak flow was about four times greater than the average, 2019 at 

over 4.5 times, the 2022 peak flow is 4.4 times the average. Average rank 

demand now, at 9 (down from 19 in 2016 and 14.5 in 2019) passengers per 

hour. The peak flow of 40 in the 01:00 hour on the Sunday is much lower than 

the 67 observed in 2019. 

Rank usage by other vehicles 

Some 1,229 different vehicle movements were observed at the rank during the 

three days of observation. Given that the main rank is regularly full of hackney 

carriages and on the opposite side of the road from the main shopping area 

the very low levels of abuse by other vehicles (just 3% of observations were 

private cars) is not surprising (same level as in 2019). Some emergency 

vehicles did use the rank, but overall 95% of the vehicles observed were 

hackney carriages (just slightly less than the 96% of 2019). 

 

 

 

 

 

0

10

20

30

40

79 12151821 0 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 0 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 0
3 5

Thurs

Fri

Sat

Sun

Page 34



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

17 
 

Plate activity levels 

To understand the level of vehicles active from the hackney carriage fleet, 

sample observations were undertaken to identify the proportion of plates 

active at three different times on all three different survey days. The proportion 

was taken of the 44 plates available for rank service, excluding the three 

specific plates. 

 

Over all three days and each period within each day 64% (83% in 2019, 81% 

2012, 90% 2008) of the fleet was observed active. This is a marked reduction 

from previous operating practice.  

 

However, the overall value masks variation by day and time of day. The table 

below summarises the proportion of plates observed for the different sample 

periods and days, contrasting this with the previous 2019 results shown in 

brackets. 

 

 Thursday Friday Saturday 

Morning 20 (24) 20 (41) 14 (37) 

Afternoon 20 (28) 18 (41) 18 (39) 

Midnight hour 2 (37) 11 (46) 5 (57) 

 

The profile shows how night demand in 2022 has plummeted with active 

vehicles significantly reduced at those times. It also shows when compared to 

the peak hour that the level of vehicles servicing that demand has dropped 

which will have led to increased levels of passenger waiting and hence unmet 

demand (see below). 

 

Considering the activity level of specific vehicles, the most frequent vehicle 

was only seen in six of the nine periods. This vehicle was seen ten times overall 

(same as in 2019 for frequency of times seen). Three vehicles were seen in 

four time periods and two in three. All others were seen either twice or once 

only. The next most frequent total level of observation was eight times (one 

vehicle), seven times (one vehicle) six times (two vehicles) and five times (one 

vehicle). Overall, there are less vehicles active and those that are active seem 

to be active for less periods. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

18 
 

Existence of unmet demand 

The observed rank data was reviewed to identify the hours when unmet 

demand occurred. Of the 72 hours of rank observation, 40% (31% in 2019) 

saw one or more passengers in the hour arriving when no vehicle was there 

for them to hire immediately. The range of waiting times saw the maximum 

wait for any person of nearly 20.5 minutes – a large increase on the under 9.5 

minutes of 2019. The length of passenger waits has also tended to spread out 

with 14 waiting 11 minutes or more (compared to none in 2019), 28 six to 10 

(was just five in 2019) and 56 between one and five minutes (reduced from 

the 84 of 2019). 

 

Of the hours when there was average passenger delay (APD), two thirds saw 

APD of a minute or more. However, only one hour saw APD over five minutes 

– the 08:00 hour on the Thursday morning. Every hour from 21:00 to 02:00 

on Saturday / Sunday saw passengers waiting.  

 

Nearly 36% (7% in 2019) of all passengers travelled in hours when there was 

an average passenger delay – and there was unmet demand in 56% (50% in 

2019) of surveyed off peak hours. This included all Friday afternoon  as in 

2019, with 26 waiting then (eight  in 2019). The longest wait was in the 18:00 

hour on the Saturday applying to two people, ironically the only ones to wait 

in that hour. 

 

The overall picture is of a much worsened service to the public in 2022 even 

though there are less people seeking rank service. 

 

Further discussion of the significance of the unmet demand occurs in the later 

chapter specifically considering this issue. 

 

Disability usage of rank 

Of all the hackney carriage movements observed, 30% appeared to be 

wheelchair accessible style vehicles (WAV). This is much higher than the 4% 

that exists in the fleet. Even allowing for there to be some vehicles which 

appear to be WAV but are not in reality WAV-capable (e.g. larger vehicles not 

converted to take wheelchairs), this suggests a focus of the small number of 

WAV on rank service. This appears much stronger than it was in 2019. 

 

However, a counter observation to this is that, as in 2016, there were no 

persons observed accessing hackney carriages at the rank in wheelchairs 

during the full survey. However, there were six passengers observed with other 

apparent disabilities accessing vehicles at the ranks. 

  

Page 36



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

19 
 

4 General public views 
It is very important that the views of people within the area are obtained about 

the service provided by hackney carriage and private hire. A key element which 

these surveys seek to discover is specifically if people have given up waiting 

for hackney carriages at ranks (the most readily available measure of latent 

demand). However, the opportunity is also taken with these surveys to identify 

the overall usage and views of hackney carriage and private hire vehicles 

within the study area, and to give chance for people to identify current issues 

and factors which may encourage them to use licensed vehicles more. 

Such surveys can also be key in identifying variation of demand for licensed 

vehicles across an area, particularly if there are significant areas of potential 

demand without ranks, albeit in the context that many areas do not have 

places apart from their central area with sufficient demand to justify hackney 

carriages waiting at ranks.  

These surveys tend to be undertaken during the daytime period when more 

people are available, and when survey staff safety can be guaranteed. Further, 

interviews with groups of people or with those affected by alcohol consumption 

may not necessarily provide accurate responses, despite the potential value in 

speaking with people more likely to use hackney carriages at times of higher 

demand and then more likely unmet demand. Where possible, extension of 

interviews to the early evening may capture some of this group, as well as 

some studies where careful choice of night samples can be undertaken. 

Our basic methodology requires a sample size of at least 200 to ensure stable 

responses. Trained and experienced interviewers are also important as this 

ensures respondents are guided through the questions carefully and 

consistently. A minimum sample of 50 interviews is generally possible by a 

trained interviewer in a day meaning that sample sizes are best incremented 

by 50, usually if there is targeting of a specific area or group (e.g. of students, 

or a sub-centre), although conclusions from these separate samples can only 

be indicative taken alone. For some authorities with multiple centres this can 

imply value in using a higher sample size, such as 250 if there are two large 

and one moderate sized centre. 

It is normal practice to compare the resulting gender and age structure to the 

latest available local and national census proportions to identify if the sample 

has become biased in any way. 

 

 

Page 37



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

20 
 

More recently, general public views have been enlisted from the use of council 

citizens’ panels although the issue with these is that return numbers cannot 

be guaranteed. The other issue is that the structure of the sample responding 

cannot be guaranteed either, and it is also true that those on the panel have 

chosen to be there such that they may tend to be people willing to have 

stronger opinions than the general public randomly approached. 

Finally, some recent surveys have placed an electronic copy of the 

questionnaire on their web site to allow interested persons to respond, 

although again there needs to be an element of care with such results as 

people choosing to take part may have a vested interest. 

For this survey, interviews were undertaken in the centre of Bideford, in 

Torrington, Holsworthy and Westward Ho! A total of 203 persons took part in 

the survey. All interviews were undertaken on Tuesdays or Thursdays in May 

2022, very similar to dates in both 2019 and 2016. However, as in 2019, the 

smaller nature of Holsworthy and Westward Ho! restricted the number of 

people available making it hard to meet the target 50 from each of those two 

locations.  

The present response sample obtained was compared to the latest national 

estimate of 2021 population structure (from the new census initial 

information). Slightly less males were interviewed than in the population 

figures (46% compared to 48% for the local census population). Our sample 

included more under 30’s (17% compared to 15%) and a lot more mid group 

persons (42% compared to 32%), with correspondingly less of the upper age 

group (41% compared to 53% in the population values). This was a fairly 

similar sample and comparison to that undertaken in both 2019 and 2016. 

83% said they lived in the Torridge Council area (exactly as in 2019, but less 

than the 96% of 2016. and may explain some of the slight extra discrepancy 

to the local values. Most, however, were from within the West Country though 

there were a handful of people from the east Midlands represented, again as 

in 2019.  

24% said they had used a local licensed vehicle in the last three months. This 

is lower than either the 37% (2019) 46% (2016), or 34% (2012) and 

consistent with the trend in reduced levels of rank usage. For this survey, this 

share was split between 4% saying they had used hackney carriage only, 14% 

private hire only and 5% by either kind of vehicle.  

 

 

Page 38



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

21 
 

People told us how often they used a local licensed vehicle. The largest 

proportion, 57% (44% 2019), said never, followed by 22% (23% 2019) saying 

once or twice yearly. The resulting estimate of trips per person per month is 

just 0.3 (0.8 in 2019). The hackney carriage specific value of 0.2 suggests that 

81% of licensed vehicle usage is by hackney carriage. This is very much higher 

than either the 2019 value of 58% or the estimated 2016 level of 55%. 

This is supported by just one of those responding regarding hackney carriages 

saying they could not remember seeing a hackney carriage in the area, very 

good given the lack of any livery policy or black cab style of fleet. However, 

58% (52% in 2019) of the hackney carriage question respondents did say they 

could not remember when they last used one. Most frequent actual hackney 

carriage quoted usage was once or twice a year (23% of those responding). 

Most people told us how they got licensed vehicles in the area. The highest 

option with 58% (60% in 2019) of responses was phone. 33% (31%, 2019, 

39% 2016) said at a rank, none (8%, 2019) said a freephone and none (1% 

in 2019) said hailing. In this survey 3% suggested they used apps and 6% 

other methods (most of which were visiting a taxi office). These are relatively 

similar responses with the quoting of use of a taxi office the most notable 

difference from 2019. 

One third of all respondents named one or more companies they used if they 

booked a vehicle. Of these, 4% named three, 51% two and 45% one company.  

In terms of companies named, the number continues to reduce. The number 

quoted has fallen from 15 in 2016 to 12 in 2019 and just seven now in 2022. 

However, of the seven quoted now, four were constant over the last three 

surveys, and the top three were all mixed hcv / phv companies. The top 

company took the highest level of mentions in all three surveys with just 

slightly less mention now than in 2016 (but more than in 2019). The second 

company had grown in mentions from 1% to 8% to 19% now. The third 

company saw 1%, 20% and 15% now. The fourth largest company mentions 

were for a hackney carriage only company that saw 2% in 2016, and 9% both 

in 2019 and now. One other (unknown) company saw 11% in 2016, nothing 

in 2019 but 3% now. The fifth company now gained 4% and the seventh 2% 

but had not been mentioned in either previous two surveys.  

One private hire only company which gained 16% of mentions and third 

highest in 2019 was not mentioned at all this time.  

 

Page 39



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

22 
 

This suggests a good range of companies, albeit a shrinking number, available 

and reasonable competition in the area, although it is clear there is a 

dominance of hackney carriages within most of the most active companies, 

with the possibility that many private hire service niche markets and are used 

by specific people who would not always be interviewed in different years. It 

suggests a good level of stability from the company side. 

58% (32% in 2019) of those interviewed were aware of the Bideford Quay 

rank . Of these, a much lower 31% said they used it (74% in 2019). No other 

ranks were mentioned.  

With regard to various aspects of peoples last trip by licensed vehicle, 41% 

(23% in 2019) of those interviewed provided a range of answers and provided 

answers for all aspects requested. 

Not only have more people been willing to respond, but the overall level of 

responses have improved significantly. In all cases in 2022 the very good score 

level has increased. In all but price and driver appearance, the most common 

answer, ranging from 47 to 78% was that they were very good. The best score, 

with 78% saying very good, was for driver knowledge of the area. Driver 

appearance saw 41% very good, 49% good and 10% average. Price, however, 

scored worst (albeit much better than in 2019) with most saying either 

‘average’ or ‘good’ (41%) and 13% saying very good (was just 2% then). This 

suggests price remains the key factor where people are less happy with the 

service provided, although this is a normal, national response. The only specific 

comments made were that people felt licensed vehicles were expensive – as 

in 2019.  

In terms of matters that might encourage more use of hackney carriages, the 

highest score, in 2022 was 38% saying if they were more affordable (21% 

cheaper fares in 2019). The only other strong response was an increase to 

53% saying nothing (14% in 2019). The level of those saying they would use 

more if there were more hackney carriages that could be obtained by phone 

has dropped away from 31% to 2%. However, the 2016 responses had been 

dominated by price.  

Respondents told us if they, or anyone they knew, needed a vehicle adapted 

for a disability. The response was an increased 90% (85% in 2019) saying no, 

compared to 81% in 2016, suggesting less need for such vehicles. Where a 

vehicle was needed, the strong balance (10% compared to nothing, 13% 

compared to 2% in 2019) was in favour of fully wheelchair accessible style 

vehicles. This is continued vote in favour of such vehicles than in 2016. 

 

Page 40



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

23 
 

With reference to giving up waiting at a rank, two people said they had, giving 

a latent demand at rank factor of just 1.1% (double the 0.5% of 2019).  

In another manner, 54% said they felt there were enough hackney carriages 

in Torridge, with just 3% saying there were not. 43% said they did not know. 

83% of those interviewed told us how their use of both hackney carriage and 

private hire had changed from before COVID and how they expected it to 

change moving forward. From before COVID, none said they used hackney 

carriages more but 4% said they would use them less (net decrease of 4%), 

for private hire the values were 4% up but 7% down, a net 3% reduction. 31% 

said they used both about the same. 

Moving forward, people 1% felt they might use hackney carriages more and 

4% less whilst 3% said they would use private hire more but 7% less, a net 

reduction for both of 3% and 4% respectively. 

People were asked what COVID security measures were essential, important, 

useful or not important. None were counted principally as essential, with the 

highest score being 64% important to having a screen, 47% important a driver 

wears a face mask, 40% important the vehicle had been cleaned and 30% 

passengers wore face masks. These questions may have reduced in important 

since the questionnaire was undertaken with the further move towards less 

focus on the pandemic. 

All those interviewed told us if they relied on licensed vehicles for any particular 

elements of life. 14% said there were specific elements. 24% of responses 

were for hospital visits, 19% the weekly shop, 14% for nights out and 10% for 

visiting friends and relatives.  

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 41



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

24 
 

5 Key stakeholder consultation 
The following key stakeholders were contacted in line with the 

recommendations of the BPG: 

• Supermarkets 

• Hotels 

• Pubwatch / individual pubs / night clubs 

• Other entertainment venues 

• Restaurants 

• Hospitals 

• Police 

• Disability representatives 

• Rail operators 

• Other council contacts within all relevant local councils 

Comments received have been aggregated below to provide an overall 

appreciation of the situation at the time of this survey. In some cases, there 

are very specific comments from given stakeholders, but we try to maintain 

their confidentiality as far as is possible. The comments provided in the 

remainder of this Chapter are the views of those consulted, and not that of the 

authors of this report.  

Our information was obtained by telephone, email, or letter as appropriate. 

The list contacted includes those suggested by the Council, those drawn from 

previous similar surveys, and from general internet trawls for information. Our 

target stakeholders are as far as possible drawn from across the entire 

licensing area to ensure the review covers the full area and not just specific 

parts or areas. 

For the sake of clarity, we cover key stakeholders from the public side 

separately to those from the licensed vehicle trade element, whose views are 

summarized separately in the following Chapter. 

Despite obtaining current key stakeholder details from the council and a range 

of internet sources, and inviting some 21 specific contacts to respond, no 

comments were made. Nor have the council received any recent complaints or 

compliments. This suggests there are no major issues people wish to draw to 

the attention of this Study at this time.  

  

Page 42



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

25 
 

6 Trade stakeholder views 
The BPG encourages all studies to include ‘all those involved in the trade’. 

There are a number of different ways felt to be valid in meeting this 

requirement, partly dependent on what the licensing authority feel is 

reasonable and possible given the specifics of those involved in the trade in 

their area. 

The most direct and least costly route is to obtain comment from trade 

representatives. This can be undertaken by email, phone call or face to face 

meeting by the consultant undertaking the study. In some cases to ensure 

validity of the work being undertaken it may be best for the consultation to 

occur after the main work has been undertaken. This avoids anyone being able 

to claim that the survey work was influenced by any change in behaviour. 

Most current studies tend to issue a letter and questionnaire to all hackney 

carriage and private hire owners, drivers and operators. This is best issued by 

the council on behalf of the independent consultant. Usual return is now using 

an on-line form of the questionnaire, with the option of postal return still being 

provided, albeit in some cases without use of a freepost return. Returns can 

be encouraged by email or direct contact via representatives.  

Some authorities cover private hire by issuing the letter and questionnaire to 

operators seeking they pass them on when drivers book on or off, or via vehicle 

data head communications. 

In all cases, we believe it is essential we document the method used clearly 

and measure response levels. However, it is also rare for there to be high 

levels of response, with 5% typically felt to be good and reasonable. 

For this survey, 134 letters were sent out on our behalf by the Council. There 

were a total of 21 responses, 16%, which is an excellent level for this kind of 

survey. This is the same level of response as in 2019, which itself was a 

slightly higher level of response than in 2016, but still less than the number 

that came back in 2012. 

62% of those responding told us their main source of income was the licensed 

vehicle trade. 29% were part time and had other additional income with the 

final 9% being part time with no other income.  

Of the responses provided, 67% (same as in 2019) were from hackney carriage 

drivers, 14% (down from 24% in 2019) from those that said they drove both 

kinds of vehicle, and 19% (was 10%) from those driving only private hire.  

 

Page 43



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

26 
 

Taking all responses, the average level of service was 13 years (was 14 in 

2019), ranging from one to 35 years (33 in 2019). When considered in terms 

of blocks of five years, the most common block saw 19% quoting between 26 

and 30 years, the second highest level.  

In terms of working weeks, the highest proportion of hackney carriage drivers 

worked either five or six days (32% for each, compared to 42% for six days in 

2019) with a range of two to seven days (3-7 in 2019), with an average of five 

days (6 in 2019) and 36 hours (43 in 2019) (range 7.5 to 98 (30-60 2019). 

This suggests a reduction in the overall working week for those that remained 

working in the industry. However, it was felt in 2019 that the results were on 

the high side compared to previous, but the current numbers are still a clear 

reduction. 

In terms of kinds of work undertaken, 76% of those that drove either hackney 

carriage or both kinds of vehicle said they serviced immediate hire work at 

ranks. Of the remainder, one hackney carriage (6% of total hackney carriage 

or both respondents) provided no responses, another said only immediate 

work bookings and two others (13%) only school contracts. 29% of the pure 

hackney carriage respondents said their only source of trade was from the 

ranks (although this was qualified in a further question below). 

All four private hire responding said they principally undertook school contract 

work only. Of the three saying they drove both kind of vehicle, all said they 

undertook immediate hire from both ranks and bookings and advanced hire 

work. Two added school contracts, one of whom also added chauffer or 

corporate and business contracts.  

This suggests the majority of public-facing work including private hire bookings 

appears to be undertaken principally by the hackney carriage fleet, including 

those who use both types of vehicle. 57% of respondents undertake school 

contract work, including 29% of the pure hackney carriages responding. It also 

suggests that rank work is not sufficient to support the industry in full. 

More detail was provided by several about the proportions of work from 

different sources. 21% of the hackney carriages got 90, 97 and 98% of their 

work from the ranks. One obtained the rest from hailing, another 10% from 

phone bookings and the other 1% from hailing and 2% from bookings. One 

other hackney carriage obtained 50% from ranks, 40% from bookings and 

10% from school contracts. This person said they had started working on 

Devon school contracts during the pandemic. Other hackney carriages only 

obtained 10-35% of their business from the ranks, with the bulk usually from 

bookings. This confirms the conclusions above that rank work is insufficient 

and needs to be supplemented. 

Page 44



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

27 
 

The main issue affecting when people worked was ‘preference’ (43% (33% 

2019) of those responding), followed by family commitments (21%, was 

27%). 14% (two) said this was determined by when they needed to service 

school contracts. A further one person (7%) each said they worked evenings / 

nights, when there was space at the rank or when not working in their other 

job. In 2019, busy times scored 15%, with 9% saying they avoided times of 

traffic congestion and 6% avoiding times that passengers were more likely to 

be disruptive. None of these reasons were mentioned in 2022. 

71% (81% in 2019) of those responding owned their own vehicle, (lower than 

2019) but 43% (57%) said someone else also drove the vehicle they used, a 

relatively high level of shared usage of vehicles, but lower than in either 2019 

or 2016. Half of the four telling us when someone else drove said in daytimes, 

a quarter said evenings and the remaining quarter said when they were not 

using it. 

Pre-bookings were accepted by 52% (was 86% in 2019) of those responding, 

much lower than the level quoted in 2019. 45% (60% in 2019) of these came 

by phone, with the remainder seeing one say radio, one  operator and the 

remainder by phone but with other options as well such as email, text, website 

or social media.  

Half of the hackney carriages said they principally serviced the Bideford rank 

with another saying ‘Torridge’. One added ‘Barnstaple area’ and another both 

Westward Ho! and Appledore. All three dual vehicle users mentioned Bideford 

rank with one also adding Westward Ho! and Barnstaple.  

Of all those responding (which was most), all but one said there were sufficient 

hackney carriages in the area now.  

13 of the respondents including two (half) the private hire gave reasons the 

limit benefitted the public. Half said it ensured a better service with a focussed 

number of drivers with the other saying it kept driver remuneration more in 

control which meant better vehicles and standards. One said restricted vehicle 

numbers benefitted the environment and prevented potentially much higher 

numbers. 

With regards to COVID impacts, just 22% said they knew of drivers who had 

given up due to the impacts of the pandemic. These four responses were that 

people knew one, three, eight and fifteen people respectively.   

 

 

Page 45



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

28 
 

Three respondents said rank trips in 2022 were about the same as three years 

previously. Five said less with values ranging from 15% down to 60% down 

and others not feeling able to estimate the proportion. More felt bookings were 

about the same, with one saying 15% less and another saying more. 

Respondents were asked how often they had customers needing to travel in a 

wheel chair either from the rank or from a booking. Most responded. From a 

rank people responded monthly (55%) rarely (14%), yearly 9% with the 

remaining responses spread over a range of frequencies. Just one person said 

weekly, and none said daily. For those in a wheel chair transferring, the 

monthly response was 58%, weekly 11% with the rest spread equally – 

suggesting higher levels for transfers. 

For bookings. 38% said monthly (46% for transfers); 13% each said rarely 

(same for transfers), daily or weekly with the remainder spread over the 

remaining frequencies. For transferring, 8% said there were daily trips.  

These results suggest more wheel chair passengers make bookings than go to 

the rank, with more tending to transfer than travel in their chairs, and that 

those booking are those using the facility more frequently. There were just 

four responses for those saying wheel chair passengers were part of contracts 

– with these split between two per week, weekly, monthly and rarely.  

In 2019, this question was posed differently and 68% of drivers said they had 

received no requests for wheel chair work in any form, with 16% saying one 

to five, and 11% six to 10. One other person advised us they had received 16-

20 such requests in the last year. 

Other comments were made. One said early evening trade was increased 

arising from reduced bus services, but that overall demand was strongly 

reduced given that two pubs and one nightclub had not yet reopened since the 

first lockdown. They said they believed one of the two pubs had now reopened 

and they retained their focus on the rank despite pickings being light. They did 

not agree with any review at this time and certainly felt there was no need for 

removal or increase of the limit. Another pointed out the need for a shelter at 

the rank and concentration on improving standards of the fleet. A further 

person suggested need for ranks in both Westward Ho! and Torrington and 

more spaces at the main Bideford rank. They strongly opposed any removal of 

the limit and confirmed many made a living by working on school contracts.  

One final comment was made that the driver felt the Council was a good council 

that cared for those under its jurisdiction. 

Page 46



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

29 
 

Overall the viewpoint was that retaining the limit, and at its present level, was 

essential to retain hackney carriages in the area. 

7 Evaluation of unmet demand and its significance 
It is first important to define our specific view about what constitutes unmet 

demand. Our definition is when a person turns up at a hackney carriage rank 

and finds there is no vehicle there available for immediate hire. This normally 

leads to a queue of people building up, some of who may walk off (taken to be 

latent demand), whilst others will wait till a vehicle collects them. Later 

passengers may well arrive when there are vehicles there, but because of the 

queue will not obtain a vehicle immediately.  

There are other instances where queues of passengers can be observed at 

hackney carriage ranks. This can occur when the level of demand is such that 

it takes longer for vehicles to move up to waiting passengers than passengers 

can board and move away. This often occurs at railway stations but can also 

occur at other ranks where high levels of passenger arrivals occur. We do not 

consider this is unmet demand, but geometric delay and although we note this, 

it is not counted towards unmet demand being significant. 

The industry standard index of the significance of unmet demand (ISUD) was 

initiated at the time of the introduction of section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act 

as a numeric and consistent way of evaluating unmet demand and its 

significance. The ISUD methodology was initially developed by a university and 

then adopted by one of the leading consultant groups undertaking the surveys 

made necessary to enable authorities to retain their limit on hackney carriage 

vehicle numbers. The index has been developed and deepened over time to 

take into account various court challenges. It has now become accepted as the 

industry standard test of if identified unmet demand is significant.  

The index is a statistical guide derived to evaluate if observed unmet demand 

is in fact significant. However, its basis is that early tests using first principles 

identified based on a moderate sample suggested that the level of index of 80 

was the cut-off above which the index was in fact significant, and that unmet 

demand therefore was such that action was needed in terms of additional issue 

of plates to reduce the demand below this level, or a complete change of policy 

if it was felt appropriate. This level has been accepted as part of the industry 

standard. However, the index is not a strict determinant and care is needed in 

providing the input samples as well as interpreting the result provided. 

However, the index has various components which can also be used to 

understand what is happening in the rank-based and overall licensed vehicle 

market. 

Page 47



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

30 
 

 

 

ISUD draws from several different parts of the study data. Each separate 

component of the index is designed to capture a part of the operation of the 

demand for hackney carriages and reflect this numerically. Whilst the principal 

inputs are from the rank surveys, the measure of latent demand comes from 

the public on-street surveys, and any final decision about if identified unmet 

demand is significant, or in fact about the value of continuing the current policy 

of restricting vehicle numbers, must be taken fully in the context of a careful 

balance of all the evidence gathered during the survey process.  

The present ISUD calculation has two components which both could be zero. 

In the case that either are zero, the overall index result is zero, which means 

they clearly demonstrate there is no unmet demand which is significant, even 

if other values are high. 

The first component which can be zero is the proportion of daytime hours 

where people are observed to have to wait for a hackney carriage to arrive. 

The level of wait used is ANY average wait at all within any hour. The industry 

definition of these hours varies, the main index user counts from 10:00 to 

18:00 (i.e. eight hours ending at 17:59). The present index is clear that unmet 

demand cannot be significant if there are no such hours. The only rider on this 

component is that the sample of hours collected must include a fair element of 

such hours, and that if the value is non-zero, review of the potential effect of 

a wider sample needs to be considered. 

The other component which could be zero is the test identifying the proportion 

of passengers which are travelling in any hour when the average passenger 

wait in that hour is greater than one minute.  

If both of these components are non-zero, then the remaining components of 

the index come into play. These are the peakiness factor, the seasonality 

factor, average passenger delay, and the latent demand factor.  

Average passenger delay is the total amount of time waited by all passengers 

in the sample, divided by the total number of passengers observed who 

entered hackney carriages.  

The seasonality factor allows for the undertaking of rank survey work in periods 

which are not typical, although guidance is that such periods should normally 

be avoided if possible particularly as the impact of seasons may not just be on 

the level of passenger demand, but may also impact on the level of supply. 

Page 48



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

31 
 

This is particularly true in regard to if surveys are undertaken when schools 

are active or not.  

Periods when schools are not active can lead to more hackney carriage vehicles 

being available whilst they are not required for school contract work. Such 

periods can also reduce hackney carriage demand with people away on holiday 

from the area. Generally, use of hackney carriages is higher in December in 

the run-up to Christmas, but much lower in January, February and the parts 

of July and August when more people are likely to be on holiday. The factor 

tends to range from 0.8 for December (factoring high demand level impacts 

down) to 1.2 for January / February (inflating the values from low demand 

levels upwards).  

There can be special cases where summer demand needs to be covered, 

although high peaks for tourist traffic use of hackney carriages tend not to be 

so dominant at the current time, apart from in a few key tourist authorities. 

The peakiness factor is generally either 1 (level demand generally) or 0.5 

(demand has a high peak at one point during the week). This is used to allow 

for the difficulty of any transport system being able to meet high levels of 

peaking. It is rarely possible or practicable for example for any public transport 

system, or any road capacity, to be provided to cover a few hours a week.  

The latent demand factor was added following a court case. It comes from 

asking people in the on-street questionnaires if they have ever given up waiting 

for a hackney carriage at a rank in any part of the area. This factor generally 

only affects the level of the index as it only ranges from 1.0 (no-one has given 

up) to 2.0 (everyone says they have). It is also important to check that people 

are quoting legitimate hackney carriage rank waits as some, despite careful 

questioning, quote giving up waiting at home, which must be for a private hire 

vehicle (even if in hackney carriage guise as there are few private homes with 

taxi ranks outside). 

The ISUD index is the result of multiplying each of the components together 

and benchmarking this against the cut-off value of 80. Changes in the 

individual components of the index can also be illustrative. For example, the 

growth of daytime hour queueing can be an earlier sign of unmet demand 

developing than might be apparent from the proportion of people experiencing 

a queue particularly as the former element is based on any wait and not just 

that averaging over a minute. The change to a peaky demand profile can tend 

towards reducing the potential for unmet demand to be significant.  

Finally, any ISUD value must be interpreted in the light of the sample used to 

feed it, as well as completely in the context of all other information gathered. 

Page 49



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

32 
 

Generally, the guide of the index will tend not to be overturned in regard to 

significant unmet demand being identified, but this cannot be assumed to be 

the case – the index is a guide and a part of the evidence and needs to be 

taken fully in context. 

The table below presents the results from the analysis for the current 2022 

information alongside the results from previous surveys. 

Element 2022 2019 Test 2017 2016 2012 2008 

Average wait (mins) 0.97 0.27 0.27 0.23 0.23 0.11 0.12 

Peak factor 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 1 1 

% Queues in weekday daytime hours 56.3 50 12.5 25 50 0 0 

% pass in hours with waiting over 1 minute 35.6 7.28 7.28 7.874 6 0 0.94 

Latent demand 1.011 1.005 1.005 1.055 1.055 1.038 n/k 

Overall index 978 48.77 12.19 24.23 37 0 0 

 
Apart from the peak factor, which has remained the same with a peaky demand 

profile in place all other elements of the index of significance of unmet demand 

have increased for this survey. Average passenger waiting time has increased 

from just under half a minute to just under a minute. The level of off-peak 

waiting has increased but the proportion of passengers travelling in hours when 

there is a minute or more average passenger delay in that hour has increased 

more than fourfold. Latent demand is marginally increased. 

 

All these result in an overall index well beyond the normal cut-off value of 80 

taken to suggest the observed unmet demand is significant. However, given 

that the index is not linear, the change from 2019 is not unexpected, although 

service levels are generally much worse. 

 

The main driver of the level of significance is the proportion of people travelling 

in hours with a minute or more average passenger delay. 

 

Further discussion of this occurs in the synthesis section below. 

 

  

Page 50



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

33 
 

8 Summary, synthesis and study conclusions 
This survey of demand for hackney carriages on behalf of Torridge District 

Council has been undertaken following the guidance of the BPG and other 

recent case history regarding unmet demand and its significance. This chapter 

provides a summary of the earlier chapters, a synthesis of how and what these 

mean in conjunction with each other and provides the study conclusions. The 

recommendations are provided separately in Chapter 9 which follows. 

Background and context 

The latest full review of demand for hackney carriages in the District was 

undertaken with most survey work during mid-May at a similar time to the last 

full survey in 2019. The authority has restricted hackney carriage vehicle 

numbers since 2001 and regularly tests the impact of this policy on service 

levels since that time. An issue of three plates was allowed in 2005 to provide 

a very specific niche service that is very unlikely ever to impact on the main 

hackney carriage service provided. 

 

Until 2015, hackney carriage vehicles dominated the overall licensed vehicle 

fleet in this area. Private hire numbers have increased after a small dip since 

the last survey against the national trend which is believed to be related to a 

growth in vehicles servicing school contracts. 

 

All drivers are able to drive all vehicles available to them in the area, with ‘dual’ 

driver licences in place for a substantial period. The current driver numbers 

are within a continued level of growth. Operator numbers are showing a clear 

but steady decline, with their peak having been in 2012 and are generally low. 

 

The fleet now has just two wheelchair accessible style vehicles both of which 

are in the hackney carriage fleet. Given the small overall fleet size, this face 

value of 4% of the hackney carriage fleet puts Torridge just below the 

Government action target of 5%, but also places it just above the lowest 21% 

of all authorities that have mixed saloon / WAV fleets, and below the average 

level of 22% that exists for these kinds of fleet. In reality the proportion should 

be quoted of the 45 hackney carriage available fleet, although when rounded 

this would not change the value of 4%. 

 

The operating structure of the fleet is relatively complex. In essence 19% of 

the total licensed vehicle fleet are within five mixed fleet companies and 18% 

are independent hackney carriages. More than 28% of the fleet are not publicly 

available with a further 28% in pure private hire companies. There is a high 

chance, particularly in Bideford, of a phoned-for vehicle turning up as a 

hackney carriage. 

Page 51



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

34 
 

Rank observations 

There is now in reality only the central rank in Bideford that sees passenger 

and vehicle usage. This is not for want of attempting to encourage other ranks 

not only around central Bideford but also in other areas – but it is clear that 

there is simply not sufficient demand for them to be worth anyone waiting at.  

The main rank has now settled down to operating with the main river-ward 

section for the main daytime hours, supplemented by allowing use of the bus 

stops on the town side from midnight onwards, providing extra capacity at the 

time there is more passenger demand. 

 

Observation of this rank now covers a full 72 hours from early Thursday to the 

early hours of Sunday, which also compares directly with the interim survey 

undertaken in December 2017. For 2022, the estimate weekly patronage of 

the rank is 1,180 passengers. This is 40% lower than in 2019 and half of the 

(peak) 2016 level. The pandemic seems to have taken away the relative 

stability of demand that had been observed since 2016, although 2012 to 2016 

had also seen a 41% drop, so this is not totally atypical. 

 

Comparing day totals Saturday has seen the largest decrease, an almost 

halving since 2019. Friday flows were only 22% reduced. The area retains a 

sharp peak on the Saturday night although the Friday also has an almost 

similar peak in 2022. This survey Saturday peak was 60% of the level observed 

in 2019 albeit in the same hour, 01:00 on the Sunday. 

 

The average flow level over all hours has reduced from 19 in 2016, 14.5 in 

2019 to just 9 passengers per hour. When divided by the average occupancy 

of 1.5, and shared between all rank-available vehicles, this is just 0.1 paying 

trips per vehicle per hour – incredibly low. 

 

The early hour period with no flows continues to reduce in size from Friday (5) 

to Saturday (4) to Sunday (2).  

 

The rank remains very little abused by other vehicles, with 95% of all observed 

vehicle movements being hackney carriages. 

 

Tests of fleet activity levels across the survey days suggest a marked reduction 

in 2022 of the level of fleet active – down to 64% now compared to 83% in 

2019 and 90% in 2008. This is further worsened by the loss of two from the 

hackney carriage fleet. 

 

Page 52



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

35 
 

The comparison is much starker when reviewed by period with night activity 

of vehicles very strongly reduced. In summary there are less vehicles overall 

active and those that are active tend to be active at or near ranks for less time. 

 

Even with reduced demand for vehicles, reduced activity of available vehicles 

and reduced vehicle numbers have compounded to see an increase in the 

number of hours observed when unmet demand occurred (31% to 40%). The 

maximum passenger wait has risen from 9.5 to 20.5 minutes and compared 

to 2019 when no-one waited 11 minutes or more there were now 14 people 

that waited in the 11 minutes or more category in 2022.  

 

The overall picture is a much worsened service to the reduced level of public 

demand at the rank. 

 

Although 30% of vehicles observed at the rank appeared to be wheelchair 

accessible, much higher than the 4% in the real rank fleet, no-one was seen 

using a wheelchair to access any vehicle at the rank, although there were six 

people with other observable disabilities noted being assisted into vehicles at 

the rank. These values were exactly as in 2019. 

 

On street public views 

A generally representative sample of 203 persons was interviewed in four 

locations across the District, with 83% saying they were from the area (as in 

2019). 24% (reduced from 37% in 2019) said they had used a local licensed 

vehicle in the last three months. 4% said they had used hackney carriage only, 

14% private hire only and 5% had used either kind of vehicle.  

 

It was estimated that there are 0.3 (was 0.8 in 2019) licensed vehicle trips per 

person per month with 81% (was 58%) of these undertaken in hackney 

carriages. Just one of those interviewed said they could not remember when 

they last saw a hackney carriage in the area, very encouraging, although a 

higher 58% (52% in 2019) of the hackney carriage respondents said they 

could not remember when they last used one. 

 

58% (60% 2019) said they got licensed vehicles by phone and 33% (31%) 

said rank. None (8%) said freephone and none (1%) hailing. For this 2022 

survey, 3% said they used apps and 6% other methods, principally visiting a 

taxi office.  

 

 

 

Page 53



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

36 
 

In terms of phoned-for vehicles, less companies were again named this time, 

continuing the reducing trend that suggests ongoing agglomeration of 

companies. The top three (two in 2019) were mixed fleet companies. The 

fourth was a hackney carriage only company suggesting that even those that 

phone for vehicles are very likely to have a hackney carriage collect them. 

 

58% (32%) of those interviewed were aware of the Bideford Quay rank and 

but a lower 31% this time (was 74% in 2019) of these said they used it.  

 

A significant point for this survey was that not only have more people been 

willing to respond, but the overall level of responses has improved significantly 

with great improvements in the ‘very good’ score levels across the board. The 

best score overall was for driver knowledge of the area.  

 

In terms of matters that might increase hackney carriage usage the main one 

was if they were more affordable. However, the other strong response this 

time was to 53% saying nothing would increase their usage of licensed 

vehicles, from 14% in 2019.  

 

There appeared to be even less need for wheelchair accessible vehicles in this 

sample than in 2019, although this might be related to the lower proportion of 

the older group interviewed. Those needing such vehicles showed a very strong 

requirement for a fully wheelchair accessible style. 

 

Latent demand was increased to 1.1%, double the 0.5% of 2019, but still very 

low, and particularly so given the increase in waiting times noted in the rank 

surveys. 

 

Trends from before COVID to now, and in three years hence, suggested a 

continued slow decline in usage of both hackney carriage and private hire 

vehicles, at 3-4% in both cases. 

 

The most important COVID security measure quoted was 64% saying it was 

important to have a screen, with none quoting any items as being essential 

(possibly as the interviews were at a time formal restrictions had been 

removed and COVID rates were reducing generally). 

 

Of the 14% of respondents who said they relied on licensed vehicles 24% said 

hospital visits, 19% the weekly shop, 14% for nights out and 10% for visiting 

friends and relatives. 

 

 

Page 54



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

37 
 

Key stakeholder views 

As seems to be the case post pandemic, no feedback was provided by any key 

stakeholder despite effort being made to provide them opportunity. 

 

Trade views 

Trade response at 16% (the same as in 2019) was an excellent level. 62% 

were from those whose main source of income was the licensed vehicle trade, 

29% part time with other income and 9% part time with no other income.  

 

67% (same as in 2019) of those responding said they drove hackney carriages. 

Average level of service was 13 (14 in 2019) years on average.  

 

The average working week was five days and 36 hours (six days and 43 hours 

in 2019) for hackney carriages with a range of between 7.5 and 98 hours (30 

and 60, 2019).  

 

Interestingly, all the private hire response was from those saying they focussed 

on school contracts. In total, 57% of respondents said they undertook school 

contract work.  

 

There were three hackney carriages whose principal work was from ranks, but 

the remainder suggested the share from ranks was between 10 and 35% with 

the bulk from bookings. The main focus of why people worked when they did 

was now on preference (43% compared to 33% before).  

 

A lower 71% (81% in 2019) owned their own vehicle and again a lower 43% 

(57% in 2019) said someone also drove the vehicle they used. A reduced 52% 

(86%, 2019) said they accepted pre-bookings.  

 

Half the hackney carriages said they mainly serviced the Bideford rank 

although Westward Ho! and Appledore (and Barnstaple) were also mentioned 

as places serviced. The feeling was almost exclusively that there were 

sufficient hackney carriages in the area at this time. 

 

Wheel chair usage tended to be marginally higher for bookings than for ranks 

and similarly so for transferring compared to travelling in the chair. This is 

particularly interesting given there are now only two such vehicles in the entire 

fleet. 

 

The benefit of the limit was split between ensuring better service given a 

focussed number of drivers and keeping remuneration higher enabling better 

vehicles and standards maintenance. 

Page 55



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

38 
 

Just over a fifth were aware of people having given up due to the pandemic.  

 

There was a range of views about how rank trip demand had changed. The 

views were same or reduced, whereas bookings were felt to have been more 

similar.  

 

Many other comments were made including pointing out that many venues 

had still not reopened including the main night club (only just reopening 

around October 2022).  

 

Formal evaluation of significance of unmet demand 

The overall result of the index of significance of unmet demand is that the level 

is above that counted to indicate significance of the observed unmet demand.  

Apart from the peak factor that has remained the same, all other elements 

have worsened, with the average passenger wait doubling to just under a 

minute and the main other change being the increase in the proportion of 

passengers waiting over a minute fro 7% to nearly 36%.  

This is against a background of reduced overall demand of some 40%, which 

normally would see performance statistics improve. The context and 

conclusion from this is discussed below. 

Synthesis of results 

This survey was undertaken at a similar time three years on from the previous, 

but with the pandemic covering much of the period in between. Despite much 

more normality returning, it is known that the main night club had not 

reopened at the time of survey nor was it clear if it would do so. One of the 

clear pointers from the information gathered is that the public are very 

impressed with the overall service provided despite the rank work advising us 

that average waiting times and maximum waiting times at the rank have 

increased. 

It is also very clear that a good proportion of people in Torridge using licensed 

vehicles will receive a hackney carriage even if they make a booking given the 

dominance of companies used by mixed fleet operations. This is good as it 

would also enable people to hail vehicles from those companies if it suited 

them although the mixed fleet format could cause confusion if people were 

unaware of the distinction between the two types of vehicle.  

 

 

Page 56



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

39 
 

Overall estimated demand is down 40%, with a key loss in the Saturday night 

peak clearly evident from the rank observations. However, overall Saturday 

flows are lower whilst Friday flows have actually increased. With the overall 

average level of rank usage having fallen, and a focus towards mixed fleet 

companies, more hackney carriages will be servicing bookings. This implies 

they can be more confident of earning a given level of remuneration within the 

week.  

With the pandemic encouraging people to think about lifestyles, there has 

tended to be a focus on people generally working more when it suits them than 

when service might be needed. Our review of available vehicles shows that the 

number of vehicles working later has reduced significantly for a mix of reasons.  

The increased Friday overall levels of demand have also meant the time at 

which adequate remuneration might be received will also have been drawn 

back earlier leading to again less vehicles needing to operate.  

Review of the delay times find several occurring when passenger demand is 

very low – an issue known as ‘thin’ demand – which is very difficult for fleets 

to meet without incurring waiting that brings insufficient remuneration.  

The amount of passenger delay from 17:00 Saturday to 01:59 Sunday 

accounts for 53% of total passenger delay. In terms of demand levels, the 

actual observed number of departures suggest no more than eight to ten 

vehicles should be able to meet this without significant delay being incurred 

by passengers. This is less than a quarter of the current fleet that should be 

available.  

Conclusions 

The present hackney carriage service in the Torridge District seems to be in a 

relatively healthy position and the limit policy appears to provide public benefit 

within this. The ‘new normal’ does not yet seem to have achieved a balance 

between driver operating practice and passenger demand which has led to an 

observed significantly poorer public service – although perversely views about 

this from the public have in their eyes seen strong improvement. 

 

  

Page 57



Torridge DC  Survey of demand for hackney carriages 2022 

40 
 

9 Recommendations 
On the basis of the evidence gathered in this survey of demand for hackney 

carriage for Torridge District, our key conclusion is that there is no evidence of 

any unmet demand for the services of hackney carriages either patent or latent 

which is significant at this point in time in the Torridge District licensing area 

that at present would require issue of more licences. The committee is 

therefore able to retain the limit at its present level and defend this if required. 

The only issue arising is the need to consider encouraging more vehicles to 

service the apparently growing weekend night economy, which might require 

higher fares at that time.  

There is also an issue that care needs to be taken where vehicles are 

supplementing their income in lower demand periods by working from 

telephone bookings that the level of vehicles at the rank is not reduced to the 

point that passengers find gaps in service at the ranks, particularly in the 

mornings. 

Further, the focus on lifestyle choices by drivers that is possibly reducing 

weekend supply of vehicles together with an ability to achieve desired 

remuneration without this, needs to be discussed and reviewed. Were it to 

become clear that there was an unwillingness to service such demand, more 

plates or even removal of the limit might be necessary. However, this would 

generally be a negative step as the stability the limit gives might reduce those 

willing to continue hackney carriage service even further, which would be 

against the public interest that is presently developing more of a one-tier 

licensed vehicle operation in the area.  

A test of levels of service in both terms of passenger delays and numbers of 

vehicles operating may be needed within three months of the date of the re-

opening of the main night venue to ensure there has been a significant and 

appropriate response by the current trade to meeting that need. That is doubly 

important to ensure that the future of the night club is enhanced by the ability 

of its patrons to get home safely. 

Page 58



 
  

REPORT OF LEAD LICENSING OFFICER 

To: LICENSING COMMITTEE 

Subject: ANIMAL LICENSING POLICY 

Date: 30 NOVEMBER 2022 Reference:  

 
 
PURPOSE OF REPORT:     

 
To seek approval from the Licensing Committee to commence a consultation exercise for the 
introduction of an Animal Licensing Policy 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 

The Authority does not currently have an Animal Licensing Policy. It is considered best practice to 
have a formal policy in place and this report seeks approval to commence a consultation exercise 
for the introduction of a formal policy.  
 
2. REPORT 

 
The introduction of the Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) 
Regulations 2018 introduced significant change to the previous licensing regime.  
 
The 2018 Regulations consolidated the numerous previous animal licensing regulations, such as 
the Breeding of Dogs Act 1973 and 1991, and the Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963, into 
five animal activity categories, and introduced statutory guidance which all Licensing Authorities are 
required to follow when considering issuing a licence. The 2018 Regulations also introduced 
mandatory licence conditions for each category of licence, and accompanying minimum welfare 
standards that must be met by all applicants before a licence is issued, and a public facing star 
rating scheme with accompanying optional higher welfare standards applicable to four and five star 
rated premises. 
 
Whilst the statutory guidance that Licensing Authorities are required to follow, and the welfare 
standards applicable to licence holders, are both prescriptive, there has been identified some areas 
that are open to individual authorities to interpret. For example, the legislation requires that licences 
only be issued to those applicants that are deemed fit and proper, but it is for the Licensing 
Authority to determine the parameters of fitness and propriety (the attached draft policy at Appendix 
B includes a section on the suitability of applicants which details Disclosure and Barring Service 
(DBS) check requirements, and comment on the relevance of certain convictions). Another example 
would be requests for re-inspection, where the guidance simply states that an Authority may 
undertake re-inspections to re-evaluate the star rating and may charge a fee for this, but does not 
comment further on the details of how this should be organised. 
 
The attached draft policy sets out the general principles that the Council will follow in relation to the 
enforcement of animal welfare legislation (including zoos and dangerous wild animal licensing which 
retain separate legislative requirements from the other five animal activity categories). 
 
The draft Policy also describes the types of animal licensing matters that are likely to occur and how 
the Council will deal with them. The draft policy represents guidance on details of the service 
provided and the general principles that the Council follows in relation to the enforcement of animal 
licensing legislation. 
 
The draft policy is attached in Appendix B. 
 

Page 59

Agenda Item 8



 
  

3. IMPLICATIONS 

 
Legal Implications 
There is no legal requirement to have a policy in place, however, such a policy does provide 
guidance and good practice for applicants, the Authority, members of the public and, ultimately in 
the case of enforcement action, guidance for the courts. 
 
Financial Implications 
None  
 
Human Resources Implications 
None 
 
Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications 
None 
 
Equality/Diversity 
None 
 
Risk Management 
There are possible legal, reputational and financial risks if the Council does not maintain a Policy 
which reflects current legislation and the latest guidance. 

 
Compliance with Policies and Strategies 
All regulatory activity is carried out in accordance with current policy and procedures. 
 
Data Protection (GDPR) Implications 
None 
 
Climate Change 
None 
 
Lead Member Views 
None 

 
4. CONCLUSIONS 
 

It is good practice to have a robust policy to provide guidance and good practice to applicants, the 
Authority’s officers, councillors and members of the public. 

 
5. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is recommended: 
 
1. that Members approve the consultation process;  
2. that consultation on the draft policy be carried out over an 8 week period and the responses 
reported back to this committee at a future date. 
 

 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 
Consultations:  In accordance with the agreed schedule 
Contact:  Chris Parkhouse 
Supporting papers: Licensing data area/files 
 

Page 60



1 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  

  
DDRRAAFFTT11..11  

  

AANNIIMMAALL  

LLIICCEENNSSIINNGG  PPOOLLIICCYY  

    

  

  

  
 

 
 

Version 1.0 Date April 2023 
Approved: Licensing Committee TBC Next Review 

Date 
TBC 

 

Page 61



 2 

 
 
 

Table of Contents 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Topic 

 

 
Page 

1 Introduction 3 
2 Scope of policy 3 

3 Legislation Framework 4 

4 Enforcement of the Policy 6 

5 Policy Application 8 

6 Animal Activity Star Rating 10 

7 Suitability of Applicants 15 

8 Fees 17 

9 Application Process 18 

10 Powers of Inspectors 19 

11 If a licence holder dies 20 

12 Additional Information 20 

Appendix A Providing and arranging provision of boarding for 
dogs or cats 

21 

Appendix B Selling animals as pets 23 

Appendix C Hiring out horses 24 

Appendix D Dog breeding 25 

Appendix E Keeping or training animals for exhibition 26 

Appendix F Dangerous Wild Animals 27 

Appendix G Zoos 30 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This document can be made available in other formats and languages if required. 
Please contact the Licensing Team for further details. 

                   Telephone: 01237-428700.       E-mail: licensing@torridge.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

Page 62

mailto:licensing@torridge.gov.uk


 3 

 

 

1 Introduction 
 
1.1 Torridge District Council has statutory responsibilities for the licensing of a number of 

activities relating to the welfare of animals under the Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities 
Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018, the Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976, and 
the Zoo Licensing Act 1981. These pieces of legislation are aimed at protecting the welfare 
and safety of animals and those that interact with them and make it an offence for any person 
to possess, own, or keep animals in order to carry out certain businesses, or have possession 
of certain animals without first being licensed by the Council. 

 
1.2 The Council is required to ensure that: 

 

•       licence holders are suitably inspected/ assessed against the regulation requirements; 
 

•       individuals who apply for a licence and do not meet the regulation requirements for the 
grant of a new licence are refused a licence; 

 

•       appropriate enforcement action is taken against operators carrying out, attempting to 
carry on, or knowingly allowing a licensable activity to be done without a licence or in 
contravention of regulations or licence conditions; 

 

•       licences are not granted to individuals that are already disqualified from holding a 
licence or have previously had one revoked; 

 

 
2 Scope of Policy 
 
2.1  This policy sets out the general principles that the Council will follow in relation to the 

provision and enforcement of animal licensing. The Policy describes the types of animal 
licensing matters that are likely to occur and how the Council will deal with them. 

 
2.2  The Council will also have regard to any statutory guidance issued in relation to any of the 

primary animal licensing Acts and associated Regulations. 
 
2.3  This Policy will ensure that the Council carries out its animal licensing responsibilities in a 

consistent and fair manner. 
 

Page 63



 4 

 
3 The Legislative Framework 
 
3.1  The Animal Welfare Act 2006 (“the Act”) consolidated and updated a range of previous 

legislation to promote the welfare of animals. This Act is the principal piece of legislation 
aimed at protecting animal welfare in England and Wales and establishes set welfare 
standards that must be maintained by all people who are responsible for an animal. The Act 
also places responsibilities on to numerous enforcement agencies, including local authorities. 

 
3.2  The Act introduced a ‘duty of care’ on any person that is responsible for an animal to ensure 

that the needs of that animal are met and created an offence of failing to provide for those 
needs. The Act also increased the penalties for animal abuse allowing the courts to disqualify 
a person from being in charge of animals. Any person disqualified under the Act is also 
disqualified from holding a licence under any of the animal licensing Regulations. 

 
3.3  The Act gives powers to the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs to 

pass regulations that may repeal or amend any of the primary licensing Acts or create new 
forms of licences, and these powers were used to create the Animal Welfare (Licensing of 
Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018.  

 
3.4 Section 9 of the Animal Welfare Act 2006 creates five overarching principles of animal 

welfare. The Act refers to these as the ‘five needs’ of all animals. It is the duty of any person 
responsible for an animal to ensure that each of these five needs are met. 

 
3.5  The ‘five needs’ are:  
 

•  The need for a suitable environment (by providing an appropriate environment, 
including shelter and a comfortable resting area); 

  

•  The need for a suitable diet (by ready access, where appropriate, to fresh water and a 
diet to maintain full health); 

  

•  The need to be able to exhibit normal behaviour patterns (by providing sufficient space, 
proper facilities and the company of an animal of its own kind, where appropriate);  

 

•  Any need to be housed with, or apart from, other animals (by providing the company of 
an animal of its own kind, where appropriate); and  

 

•  The need to be protected from pain, suffering, injury and disease (by prevention or 

rapid diagnosis and treatment and ensuring conditions and treatment which avoid 
mental suffering). 

 
3.6  The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018 

came into force in October 2018 and are made under section 13(7) and 13(8) of the Animal 
Welfare Act 2006. The regulations update and replace legislation for selling animals as pets, 
dog and cat boarding, dog breeding and riding establishments. In addition to this it introduces, 
for the first time, a licence regime for keeping and training animals for exhibition. 
 
 
 

Page 64



 5 

Under Schedule 1 of the regulation, a licensable activity means one of five activities involving 
animals: 

• Selling animals as pets 

• Providing for or arranging for the provision of boarding for cats or dogs 

• Hiring out horses 

• Dog breeding 

• Keeping or training animals for exhibition 
 

3.7 The Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976 dictates that a licence is required from the Council to 
keep certain animals that are considered wild, dangerous or exotic. A full list of animals that 
need a licence can be seen here: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/2465/schedule/made. 

 
3.8  The Zoo Licensing Act 1981 dictates that a licence is required from the Council to display wild 

animals to the public for at least 7 days a year, in a place that is not a circus or a pet shop. 

Page 65

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/2465/schedule/made


 6 

 
4 Enforcement of the policy 
 

4.1  The Council will seek to ensure compliance with the legislation outlined above and will carry 
out its duty in an appropriate and consistent manner according to the following principles:  

 

•  seek to achieve compliance in an accountable, consistent, proportional, and transparent 
manner as stated in Section 2(3) of the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006. 
Our enforcement activities will also be targeted at those cases in which action is 
required to ensure compliance;  

 

•  seek to assist businesses and others in meeting their legal obligations through provision 
of reasonable assistance and advice, and aim to be clear, open and helpful in its 
approach to enforcement; 

  

•  focus on prevention rather than cure, and in the context of animal licensing, in particular 
focus on risks to animal welfare; 

  

•  seek to target enforcement resources at areas of highest risk to animal welfare and 
public safety, including non-compliant businesses and individuals/ partnerships;  

 

•  take robust action against those who knowingly contravene the law or act irresponsibly;  
 

•  where appropriate work in partnership with other regulatory or enforcement agencies to 
solve problems. Such bodies include the RSPCA, Police and Trading Standards. 

 
4.2 In carrying out its enforcement duties, the Council has adopted an enforcement policy, which 

is available on the Council’s website: www.torridge.gov.uk 
 
4.3  We aim to achieve and maintain a consistent approach when we investigate complaints and 

make our decisions regarding enforcement. In reaching any decision we will consider, 
potentially amongst other things, the following criteria:  

 

•  The seriousness of any offences or breach of conditions;  

•  The previous compliance record of the business/ individual/ partnership; 

•  The possible consequence(s) of non-compliance  

•  The likely effectiveness of the various enforcement options available; and 

•  The risk to the welfare of animals and/or the public. 
 
Suspension, Variation and Revocation of a licence 
 

4.4 Local Authorities can vary an animal activity licence at any time. This Council will consider 
varying licences where a variation will likely have a positive impact on animal welfare or 
address an issue which was adversely impacting on animal welfare. This Council will seek to 
engage with Licence Holders to ensure that any variations are both reasonable and practical. 

 
 
 
 

Page 66

http://www.torridge.gov.uk/


 7 

 
4.5  The Council will also give consideration to suspending, varying, or revoking a licence without 

the consent of the Licence Holder where: 

• the licence conditions are not being complied with; 

• regulations are breached; 

• information supplied by the licence holder is false or misleading; 

• it is necessary to protect the welfare of an animal. 
 

4.6  The Council will take a graduated approach to considering these measures, and in all 
instances will first consider if compliance and protection of animal welfare can be achieved by 
variation of the licence. Where it is not considered possible to achieve this via licence 
variation then suspension or revocation will be considered, in particular where poor standards 
of animal welfare are identified, or where the Licence Holder has a previous poor compliance 
record. 

 
4.7  Where a licence is varied, suspended, or revoked, the Council will provide notice of this in 

writing, and include the following information: 
 

• the reasoning behind the decision; 

• when the change will come into effect; 

• the licence holder’s rights (including how to appeal the decision); 

• specific details of any works/ issues requiring resolution before a suspension can be 
lifted. 

 
4.8  A suspension, variation or revocation of a licence will ordinarily take effect 7 working days 

after the decision has been issued to the licence holder. The exception to this is where the 
reason for the action is to protect animal welfare, in which case the effect of the notice is 
immediate (via powers conferred on the Licensing Authority under Section 16 (2) of the 
Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018). 

 
4.9  During the 7 days before the notice takes effect (unless the notice has immediate effect), the 

Licence Holder can make written representation to the Council. The Council will then consider 
these representations, provide a response within 7 working days, and either: 

 

• Continue with the licence suspension, variation or revocation; or 

• Cancel the decision to make changes to the licence. 
 
4.10 Licence Holders have 28 days to appeal against the decision, and if the licence is suspended 

or revoked cannot trade again until the suspension or revocation is lifted following: 
 

• the Council being satisfied that licence conditions are being met; or 

• the first-tier tribunal finding in favour of the Licence Holder that the Council’s decision 
was incorrect. 

Page 67



 8 

 
5 Policy Application 
 

5.1  The Animal Welfare Act 2006 and associated Regulations outline individual application 
requirements and mandatory conditions that the Council must be satisfied with before it can 
grant a licence. The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) 
Regulations 2018 gives the Council powers to apply conditions to each Licence it grants in 
addition to the mandatory conditions set out in the statutory guidance for each category of 
animal activity licence. 

 
5.2  The principal purpose of requiring a licence is to safeguard animal welfare, and the Council 

will keep this objective in mind at all times when undertaking its animal licensing duties. 
 
5.3  The Council will inspect premises in accordance with legislative requirements, veterinary 

advice and any statutory codes of practice before issuing or renewing a licence. Inspections 
will involve both programmed/ announced inspections as well as unannounced inspections 
such as to provide confidence as to the level of compliance of a licence holder/ applicant. 
Whether an inspection needs to be announced or unannounced depends on the reason for 
the inspection. For example, if there’s a complaint or information that an animal’s welfare is at 
risk it is likely that an inspector will make unannounced re-inspections to make sure 
compliance is checked thoroughly.  

 
5.4  Where appropriate or required (such as the case with riding stables and initial dog breeding 

inspections), inspections will be carried out with a qualified/ registered vet. Where inspections 
identify areas of concern which cannot be addressed by the licence conditions, officers will 
consider the use of the Animal Welfare Act 2006 and/or liaise with other organisations such 
as the RSPCA. 

 
5.5  The Council will make reasonable efforts to investigate reports and intelligence relating to 

unlicensed establishments and/or breaches of conditions, respond to any issues, and where 
necessary take enforcement action in-line with the Council’s Enforcement Policy.  

 
5.6  When carrying out its functions under the primary licensing Acts the Council will seek to 

promote the following objectives:  
 

• The five needs as set out in the Animal Welfare Act; 

• Public safety; 

• Integration with other relevant strategies and legal requirements; 

• Positive relations with licence holders and proportionate regulation. 
 

5.7  In addition to the danger to the welfare of animals by unlicensed or irresponsible animal 
owners, there is also a danger that may arise to members of the public. For example, poor 
standards of hygiene could lead to a risk of diseases spreading and affecting other members 
of the public and their animals. Additionally, licence holders that permit members of the public 
onto their premises have a legal duty to ensure that they do not put them at risk of illness or 
injury. Public safety will therefore be a paramount consideration by the Council at all times. 

 
 
 
 

Page 68



 9 

 
5.8  In addition to being licensed to carry out animal activities a licence holder and their premises 

may need to comply with other legislation such as planning and building regulations. Where 
the appropriate permissions or consents are not in place, or where they are being breached, 
or could be (for example where the grant of a licence would breach a planning condition), the 
Council may take enforcement action which could lead to the closure of such premises and 
consequently adversely impact on the welfare of any animals accommodated there. As a 
result the Council will not grant a licence where the appropriate planning permissions or 
building control consents are not in place, or may revoke a licence where such legislation, 
regulation or conditions are breached. 

 
5.9  The statutory guidance accompanying each of the primary licensing regulations state clearly 

the mandatory conditions and minimum standards which the Council must be satisfied are 
complied with before any licence is granted. Where the relevant Licensing Officer is not 
satisfied that the relevant legal requirements and mandatory conditions are met, or where an 
Environmental Health Officer of the Council or Veterinary Surgeon has raised concerns that 
the legal requirements or standards are not met, or unlikely to be met, the applicant for the 
licence will be notified. The applicant will have the opportunity to address these matters in the 
hope of satisfying the relevant criteria. 

 
5.10  If the applicant fails to meet the necessary standards to be granted a licence, the Authority 

will endeavour to work with the applicant to ensure suitable measures can be put in place and 
subsequently issue the licence once a satisfactory standard is achieved. The Authority will 
agree a specific period of time for the applicant to achieve these standards before formally 
refusing a licence. If sufficient engagement with the applicant has not been achieved within a 
period of 3 months the licence will be refused. The applicant will need to reapply for a licence 
and the initial application fee will not be refunded. 

 

Page 69



 10 

 
6 The Animal Activity Star Rating Scheme 
 

6.1  The Animal Activity Star Rating Scheme does not apply to premises licensed under the 
Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976 or the Zoo Licensing Act 1981 

 
6.2 For animal activities licensable under the Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving 

Animals) (England) Regulations 2018 other than keeping or training animals for exhibition a 
star rating will be given.  

 
6.2  In line with Statutory Guidance to Local authorities, applicants will be given a star rating 

ranging from 1 to 5, based on their compliance history and the results of their inspection. This 
also applies if an applicant asks for a re-inspection. 

 
6.3  Applicants/ Licence holders should be aware that the Council may amend their star rating 

after a routine revisit or unannounced inspection. For example, a star rating could go down 
after an unannounced inspection to investigate an animal welfare complaint. 

 
6.4  The Council will provide feedback on the star rating they have given following inspections 

which will include the following:  
 

• The star rating; 

• Details of why this rating was given. This will include a list of the higher standards that 
the business currently fails to meet, or a list of the minimum standards that the 
business is failing to meet if it is considered to be in the minor failing category; 

• Details of the appeals process and the deadline by which an appeal must be made. 
 
Granting or renewing a licence: risk-based approach 
 
6.5  In determining the star rating of a business the Council will adopt a risk-based approach. The 

Council will consider the following matters as part of its risk-based approach: 
 

• The compliance history of the individual applying for the licence – poorer compliance 
history will be interpreted as higher risk; 

• The animal welfare standards observed - whether they have minor failings, follow 
minimum standards or already operate at a higher standard. 

 
6.6  In addition to the above the Council will also consider the following questions based on the 

inspection and on records of past compliance: 
 

• Does the applicant/ business meet the minimum standards? 

• Does the applicant/ business meet the higher standards? 
• Is the applicant/ business low or higher risk? 

Page 70



 11 

 
The Animal activity star rating system 
 

 Minor  
Failings 

Minimum  
Standards 

Higher  
Standards 

Low risk 1-star rating, 1 
year licence at 
least 1 
unannounced visit 
within 12 months 

3-star-rating, 2-
year licence, at 
least 1 
unannounced visit 
within 24 months 

5-star rating, 3-
year licence, at 
least 1 
unannounced 
within 36 months 

High risk 1-star rating, 1 
year licence, at 
least 1 
unannounced visit 
within 12 months 

2-star rating, 1 
year licence at 
least 1 
unannounced visit 
within 12 months 

4-star rating, 2 
year licence, at 
least 1 
unannounced 
visit within 24 
months 

 
 
6.7  New applicants that do not have one year of compliance history with a local authority or 

a UKAS-accredited body will be automatically rated as high risk. The length of time the 
licence is granted for in these instances will depend on whether the new applicant meets the 
specified higher standards of animal welfare, or the minimum standards. 

 
6.8  For renewal applications, the length of time the licence is granted for will depend on their risk 

rating and welfare standards at inspection. The licence length can be up to 3 years. 
 
6.9  Where any failings compromise the welfare of animals a licence will not be granted or 

renewed.  
 
6.10  All of the minimum standards outlined in the relevant licensable animal activity guides must 

also be met. Failure to do so will lead to refusal to grant or renew the licence.  
 
6.11 In cases where Licence holders conduct multiple types of animal activity categories, they will 

only receive one rating to cover all of the activities they undertake. Each activity will be 
considered and rated separately before the final score is awarded overall. In accordance with 
the statutory guidance to Local Authorities, the star rating will be rounded down if the licence 
holder is operating with lower standards for one activity than another. For example, if an 
applicant meets the higher standards for dog breeding and the minimum standards for dog 
boarding, the overall score will reflect the lower of the two. 

 
6.12 As per the risk scoring matrix set out above, the Animal Activity rating scheme requires 

inspections to be carried out during the term of a licence, and the star rating may be varied at 
that time if the level of compliance identified at that time has gone up or down.  

 
6.13 For the activity of hiring out horses, there is a requirement for an annual inspection by a 

Veterinarian listed on the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons Riding Establishments 
Inspectorate List. It is the Council’s policy to appoint the Veterinarian to undertake the 
inspection who will be independent and not one that is retained by the applicant / licence 
holder. Any increased costs associated with this, for example increased mileage costs, must 
be borne by the applicant.  

Page 71



 12 

 
Exception: keeping or training animals for exhibition 
 

6.14 As stated above, the only exception to the risk-based approach is for the activity of keeping or 
training animals for exhibition. All licences for the activity of keeping or training animals for 
exhibition can be granted for 3 years. This is done on the basis that these activities have been 
subject to a simple registration system. A risk assessment is not undertaken for this animal 
activity as a star rating is not issued.  

 
Higher standards 
 

6.15 Optional higher standards have also been set out in the relevant animal activity guides and 
achieving compliance with the higher standards is the only way of obtaining a 4 or 5 star 
rating. 

 
6.16 In order to qualify for consideration at the higher standard, the applicant/ business must meet: 
 

• 100% of the higher standards classified in the guidance as required; 

• 50% (or more) of the higher standards classified in the guidance as optional. 
 
Star rating appeal procedure 
 

6.17 Before considering an appeal against a star rating awarded, licence holders are strongly 
encouraged to discuss the rating with the inspecting Officer first. The Officer will already have 
provided a detailed written explanation of the rating awarded and will be happy to explain this 
further. In many instances this may resolve the matter and avoid the need for an appeal.  

 
6.18 In order to appeal against a star rating the applicant should contact Torridge District Council in 

writing within 21 days of receiving their rating, clearly setting out how they think that the rating 
awarded does not reflect the animal welfare standards and risk level at the time of inspection 
via the following address or email address: 

 
FAO Licensing Team, Torridge District Council, Riverbank House, Bideford, EX39 2QG. 
Email: licensing@torridge.gov.uk  
 

 6.19 Appeals will be determined by a Senior Officer within 21 days of receiving the appeal, and 
may involve the following: 

 

• Review of inspection notes, inspection report, and comparison of those documents 
with the appeal documents; 

• Review of the past compliance history of the licence holder; 

• A further visit to the Licensed Premises; 

• Additional advice from relevant animal welfare experts (for example specialist 
veterinary advice, or dog behaviour therapist input). 

 
6.20 The cost of any additional inspections or specialist support/ advice will be borne by the appeal 

applicant, except where the appeal results in a higher rating being awarded, in which case the 
cost will be borne by the Council.  

 
 

Page 72

mailto:licensing@torridge.gov.uk


 13 

 
 
6.21 If the applicant disagrees with the outcome of the appeal, they can challenge the Council’s 

decision by means of a judicial review. The applicant also has the recourse to the local 
authority complaints procedure (including taking the matter to the Local Government 
Ombudsman where appropriate) if they consider that a council service has not been properly 
delivered.  

 
Refusing a licence  
 

6.22 Local Authorities are required to refuse a licence/ renewal application in the following 
circumstances: 

 

• If they consider that the applicant cannot meet the mandatory licence conditions and 
minimum standards; 

• If they are concerned that issuing the licence may negatively impact on animal welfare; 

• If the housing, staffing or management are inadequate for the animals’ wellbeing or for 
the activity or facility to be run properly; 

• If an operator who has been disqualified from holding a licence previously under 
Section 34 or 42 of the Animal Welfare Act 2006. 

 
6.23 The Council may also refuse a Licence if it determines that the applicant is not a fit and proper 

person, for example where the applicant has relevant offences as listed in Section 7 below. 
 
6.24 In such circumstances the Council will provide the applicant with a notice of refusal which will 

clearly set out the reasons for the application being refused, and detail how the applicant can 
appeal against the decision (appeal to a First Tier Tribunal (General Regulatory Chamber), 
within 28 days of receiving the notice of refusal).  

 
Re-inspection requests 
 

6.25 Licence Holders given a rating between 1-star and 4-stars who have accepted their rating but 
have made improvements since that time can request a re-inspection for a re-rating. A 
minimum period of three months must have elapsed between the rating being issued, and the 
date of re-inspection. The reasoning for this is that it is considered that if improvements can 
be sustained for a period of three months or more, then they are more likely to be sustained in 
the longer term of the licence. A Licence holder can apply for a re-inspection prior to the 
three-month standstill period being up, but the re-inspection itself will not be undertaken until 
at least three months has elapsed. 

  
6.26 Requests for re-inspection should be made in writing and include the following: 
 

• an outline of the reasons why the licence holder feels they should receive a re-
inspection; 

• details of the improvements made to compliance or welfare since the inspection;  

• supporting evidence, if appropriate, for example photographs and invoices for works 
undertaken/ items purchased. 

 
 
 

Page 73



 14 

 
6.27 If the case for re-inspection made by the Licence Holder is not substantiated or insufficient 

evidence is provided, then the Council may refuse the request to re-inspect. If the request is 
refused then the Licence holder will be provided with a written explanation including details of 
the outstanding matters requiring attention before a re-inspection will be undertaken 

. 
6.28 Where a request for re-inspection is accepted by the Council then a re-inspection will be 

undertaken within three months of the request being received.  
 
6.29 Re-inspection visits may be undertaken either announced or unannounced (depending on the 

original inspection findings and the type of premises involved), and Licence Holders should be 
aware that depending on the re-inspection findings their star rating may go up, down, or 
remain the same. 

 
6.30 There is no limit on the number of re-inspections that can be requested, but in each case the 

request for re-inspection must include the information set out above. The Licence holder will 
be required to pay the current inspection fee for the re-inspection and will be liable for an 
additional charge where a veterinarian is also required to be in attendance. 

Page 74



 15 

 
7 Suitability of Applicants 
 

7.1 In accordance with the Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) 
Regulations 2018, any individual who carries on a licensable activity will be designated as the 
‘operator’ of the business and can apply for a licence, providing they are not already 
disqualified from holding a licence in accordance with the Regulations. 

 
7.2  In order to ensure compliance with our duties to ensure that an individual has not been 

disqualified from holding a licence the Council will require new applicants to provide a basic 
disclosure certificate (DBS) alongside their application. The Disclosure and Barring Service 
certificate must be marked with an issue date no more than 3 calendar months before the 
date of application.  

 
7.3  Existing Licence holders will be required to provide a basic disclosure certificate as part of 

their renewal application from 1st April 2023 onwards. As with new applicants the Disclosure 
and Barring Service certificate must be dated no more than 3 calendar months before the 
date of application. 

 
7.4  A Basic Disclosure will be required of all those applicants listed in the application (individuals, 

partners, and directors). 
 
7.5  DBS checks must show that the applicant (or applicants) are not disqualified from holding a 

licence, and/or hold no relevant convictions which may affect whether they are a ‘fit and 
proper’ person to hold a licence. 

 
7.6  A licence will only be granted where the Council is satisfied that the applicant is a fit and 

proper person to be the operator for the animal licence applied for. Fitness and propriety to 
hold a licence is a familiar concept within licensing but is not legally defined within the context 
of animal licensing. For the purpose of this Policy, the Council will consider a ‘fit and proper 
person’ to be an individual who can demonstrate upon application that they have:  
 

•  no relevant convictions; 

•  not been disqualified from holding a licence; 

•  the knowledge, experience, compliance history and ability to give reasonable confidence 
that they can comply with licence conditions and safeguard the welfare of animals in 
their care; 

•  made suitable management and training arrangements to ensure the safety and welfare 
of any staff and/or members of the public who may be affected by the licensed activity. 

 
 7.7 This does not limit the scope of the fitness and propriety assessment and the Council may take 

into account other matters considered relevant to the licensing process. 
 
Relevance of convictions 
 

7.8  The purpose of this section is to offer guidance on how the Council will determine whether an 
applicant or licence holder is suitable to either be granted a licence in the first place or retain 
a licence under the Regulations. 

Page 75



 16 

In all cases, the Licensing Authority will consider the conviction or behaviour in question and 
what weight should be attached to it, and each and every case will be determined on its own 
merits, and in the light of these guidelines. 

 
7.9  In addition to the nature of the offence, the quantity of matters and the period over which they 

were committed will also be considered. Patterns of repeated unacceptable or criminal 
behaviour are likely to cause greater concern than isolated occurrences as such patterns can 
demonstrate a propensity for such behaviour or offending. 

 
7.10 Most applicants or licensees will have no convictions. However, it is accepted that individuals 

do make mistakes and lapse in their conduct for a variety of reasons, and it is further 
accepted that many learn from experience and do not go on to commit further offences. 
Accordingly, in many cases an isolated conviction, especially if committed some time ago, 
may not prevent the grant or renewal of a licence. 

 
7.11 Where a situation is not covered by these guidelines, the Licensing Authority will consider the 

matter from first principles and determine the fitness and propriety of the individual. 
 
7.12 Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of any offence that is related to animal 

cruelty or suffering, they will not be licenced. The reason for this is that the main purpose of 
the Animal Licensing Regulations is to ensure the welfare of animals, and as such these 
types of offences are highly relevant. 

 
7.13 The Council will also not normally grant a licence to a person with one (or more) conviction for 

any offence that is related to licensing as these offences demonstrate a disregard for 
licensing processes and procedures. 

 
7.14 In addition to the above, the Council also has wider obligations to safeguard both children and 

vulnerable adults. These obligations arise from the Children Act 2004; and the Care Act 2014. 
As a result, the Council will not grant a licence to a person with a conviction for sex and 
indecency offences or exploitation offences (abuse, exploitation, use or treatment of another 
individual irrespective of whether the victim or victims were adults or children).  

 
7.15 In relation to single convictions, the following minimum time periods should elapse following 

completion of the sentence (or the date of conviction if a fine was imposed) before a licence 
will be granted or renewed. This places public safety as the priority while enabling past 
offenders to sufficiently evidence that they have been successfully rehabilitated so that they 
might obtain or retain a licence: 

 

•  Offences involving violence- 10 years; 

•  Possession of a weapon- 7 years; 

•  Offences involving dishonesty- 7 years; 

•  Offences involving drugs- 10 years. 
 

7.16 Upon receipt of the certificate from the Disclosure & Barring Service, an Officer of the 
Licensing Authority will compare any disclosed information with the adopted policies relating 
to relevance of convictions and determine whether the applicant should be referred to a 
Licensing Sub-committee for them to determine whether the applicant is fit and proper to hold 
a licence. 

 

Page 76



 17 

8 Fees 
 

8.1  The current table of fees for animal licensing can be found on the Council’s webpages:  
www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing 
 

8.2  In accordance with relevant legislation on fees and charges by a public authority, the fees for 
each licence are made up of two parts, Part A and Part B. Part A covers the direct costs 
associated with processing the application and is payable on submission of the application. 
Part B covers the costs associated with the running of the licensing function. This includes 
dealing with complaints, enforcement and general administration. This fee is payable once a 
licence has been granted but must be paid before the licence becomes operational and valid 
(the licence will not be issued until such time as Part B of the fee has been paid in full) 

. 
8.3  In the event that following payment of the Part A fee, the Council determines not to issue a 

licence (in accordance with the rationale set out in Section 6 and 7 above), then no refund will 
be issued, as the Council will have incurred reasonable costs in determining the application 
whether the licence is issued or not.  

Page 77

http://www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing


 18 

 
9.  Application Process 
 

9.1  Licence applications must be submitted on the relevant application form, accompanied by any 
supporting information requested (such as a basic disclosure), and with the application fee 
paid (the Part A fee). Inspection of the proposed licenced premises to determine the suitability 
for licensing will only be undertaken once the above requirements have been satisfied. 

  
9.2  Once a valid application has been received (all relevant information received/ included, and 

Part A fees paid), the Council will in accordance with statutory guidance for animal activity 
licensing undertake the following: 

 

• Consider whether the conduct displayed by the applicant indicates that they are a fit 
and proper person to carry out the licensable activity and meet the licence conditions.  

• Inspect the site of the licensable activity and assess if it is likely to meet the licence 
conditions. The inspection will be completed by a suitably qualified inspector (as well 
as a veterinarian for the initial inspection of a dog breeding establishment, or a listed 
veterinarian for inspections of horse riding establishments). The inspector will prepare 
a report, in accordance with the requirements of the Regulations, to be submitted to 
the Council following their inspection. 

• The inspector’s report will contain information about the operator, any relevant 
premises, any relevant records, the condition of any animals and any other relevant 
matter, and state whether or not the inspector considers that the licence conditions will 
be met. 

 
9.3  The inspecting Officers recommendation whether or not to issue a licence will principally be 

based on the standards witnessed at the time of inspection.  
 
9.4  If the Inspecting Officer recommends that a Licence should be issued then the applicant will 

be contacted to request the Part B element of the fees be paid. Following receipt of the Part B 
fee, the Licence will be issued. 

 
9.5  Although not a statutory requirement, the Council will aim to provide licence holders with 3 

months’ notice of when their licence is due to expire. Licence holders must then submit an 
application at least 10 weeks before their licence expires to continue the activity without a 
break. It is the licence holder’s responsibility to ensure that any renewal application is made in 
good time, and the Council cannot be held responsible for any delays or lapses of a licence 
caused by an incomplete or late application. 

Page 78



 19 

 
10 Powers of Inspectors 
 

10.1 Section 30 of the Animal Welfare Act 2006 allows local authorities to prosecute for any 
offences under that Act. Prosecution proceedings will be considered in accordance with the 
Council Enforcement Policy.  

 
10.2 The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018, 

introduced a range of enforcement powers to allow the Council to issue a suspension, 
variation or revocation notice where licence conditions are not being complied with; where 
there is a breach of the regulations; or issues relating to the protection of the welfare of an 
animal (as set out further in Section 4 previously). 

 
10.3 Anyone who carries on any of the licensable activities without a licence is committing a 

criminal offence and is liable to imprisonment for a term of up to six months, a fine or both. 
 
10.4 It is a criminal offence to breach any licence condition. It is also a criminal offence not to 

comply with an inspector’s request with regards to taking a sample from an animal. 
 
10.5 It is a criminal offence to obstruct an inspector who has been appointed by a local authority to 

enforce the Regulations. Committing any of these offences could result in an unlimited fine. 
 
10.6 Inspectors have a right of entry to premises for the purpose of undertaking a licence 

inspection or checking whether an animal activity licence is required. An inspector does not 
have right of entry to any part of site premises used as a private dwelling, unless they give 24 
hours’ notice to the occupier. Section 62 of the Animal Welfare Act 2006 contains a definition 
of what would constitute a private dwelling, and an Inspector may enter this part of the 
premises without 24-hours-notice if given permission by the occupier. Where a request for 
entry is refused, Section 23 of the Animal Welfare Act makes provision for application for a 
warrant of entry.  

 
10.7 The Regulations also make provision for the inspectors to take samples for laboratory testing 

from any animals on premises occupied by an operator, for the purposes of ensuring the 
licence conditions are being complied with. A licence holder must comply with any reasonable 
request of an inspector to facilitate the identification and examination of an animal and the 
taking of samples and, in particular, must arrange the suitable restraint of an animal if 
requested by an inspector (the provision for sampling is primarily aimed at veterinarians 
carrying out inspections on behalf of the Council). 

Page 79



 20 

 
11 If a Licence Holder Dies 
 

11.1 If a licence holder dies, the procedure in regulation 12 of the Animal Welfare (Licensing of 
Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018 applies. This allows the personal 
representative of the deceased to take on the licence, provided that they inform the local 
authority within 28 days of the death that they are now the operators of the licensable activity. 

 
11.2 The licence will remain in place for 3 months from the death of the former licence holder, or 

for the rest of the time it was due to remain in force if that time period is shorter. 
 
11.3 The new licence holder should apply for a new licence one month before the expiry of this 

new period. If the personal representative does not notify the local authority within 28 days of 
the death of the licence holder, the licence will cease to have effect after those 28 days. 

 
11.4 The Council will give consideration to extending the 3 month period up to 6 months if 

requested by the representative and if they believe this time is needed to wind up the estate 
of the former licence holder. 

 
12 Change of ownership/sale of business 
 
12.1 There is no provision within the regulations to change the name of the licence holder if the 

business is sold. 
 
12.2 The new owner will need to apply for a new licence. It is advised that this is done as soon as 

the offer on the property/business has been accepted. They can keep the bookings already in 
the books (especially kennels and catteries) when they move in. When they move into the 
property/business, we will carry out an inspection within 28 days of them taking over. 

 
 
13 Additional information  
 

13.1 The Council has additional information available online, including application forms, guidance 
documents and details on conditions. www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 80

http://www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing


 21 

 
Appendix A. Providing or Arranging Provision of Boarding for Cats or Dogs 
 
A1.  All dog and cat boarding activities need a licence if they are carried out as a commercial 

business. Further information on whether an activity would be considered a commercial 
business is contained in the relevant statutory guidance which the Council will have regard to. 

 
A2.  To be in scope, they must: 
  

• provide housing for other people’s dogs or cats, where the provision of that housing is 
part or solely the activity of the business; 

• arrange housing for other people’s dogs - for example, businesses which connect pet 
owners with people willing to look after their animals for no fee, just minor expenses; 

• provide overnight housing for cats in purpose-built cattery units; 

• home board cats, when they are kept in cattery units; 

• provide daytime housing for other people’s dogs, as part of, or as the only activity of, 
the business. 

 
A3.  An application for a licence must be made to the Council on its application form, which is 

available from the Council’s website: www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing 
  
A4.  Before granting a licence the Council must be satisfied that an establishment is compliant with 

at least the minimum standards outlined under the relevant statutory guidance: 
 

- Cat boarding Licensing:  
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Cat-Boarding-
Guidance.pdf  
 
- Home boarding for dogs licensing:  
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Home-Boarding-for-
Dogs-Guidance.pdf 
 
- Dog day care licensing:  
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Dog-Day-Care-
Guidance.pdf 
 
- Dog kennel boarding licensing:  
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Commercial-Dog-
Boarding-Guidance.pdf 

 
A5.  If the Council is satisfied that the requirements of the statutory guidance documents are met, 

and there are no other concerns about the welfare of animals or the objectives of this policy 
being undermined, the licence will be granted. 

 
A6.  The Council may attach any condition to the licence that it feels are necessary and expedient 

for securing the objectives above. 
 
A7.  If the Council has any concerns about the welfare of the animals kept under this licence, it 

may request that a vet conducts a further visit to ascertain if the measures in place are 
acceptable which would be chargeable to the licence holder. 

Page 81

http://www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Cat-Boarding-Guidance.pdf
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Cat-Boarding-Guidance.pdf
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Home-Boarding-for-Dogs-Guidance.pdf
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Home-Boarding-for-Dogs-Guidance.pdf
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Dog-Day-Care-Guidance.pdf
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Dog-Day-Care-Guidance.pdf
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Commercial-Dog-Boarding-Guidance.pdf
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Commercial-Dog-Boarding-Guidance.pdf


 22 

 
 
A8  All dog and cat boarding activities undertaken as a commercial business should have a trade 

waste contract, and inspecting Officers will request evidence of this at the time of inspection. 
For those dog and cat boarding establishments of smaller scale, for the sake of clarity, 
Officers will expect to see evidence of a trade waste contract where 5 or more dogs or cats 
are accommodated at any time.  

Page 82



 23 

 
Appendix B. Selling Animals as Pets Licensing 
 

B1  All selling animals as pets activities need a licence if they are carried out as a commercial 
business. Further information on whether an activity would be considered a commercial 
business is contained in the relevant statutory guidance on selling animals as pets licensing, 
which the Council will have regard to.  This activity licence does not include the sale of 
animals in the course of aquacultural production, or the breeding of dogs (this is a separate 
form of animal activity licence). 

 
B2  An application for a licence must be made to the Council on its application form, which is 

available from the Council’s website: www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing 
 

B3.  Before granting a licence the Council must be satisfied that an establishment is compliant with 
at least the minimum standards outlined under the statutory guidance:  
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Selling-Animals-as-
Pets-Guidance.pdf 
 

B4.  If the Council is satisfied that the requirements of the statutory guidance document are met, 
and there are no other concerns about the welfare of animals or the objectives of this policy 
being undermined, the licence will be granted. 

 
B5.  The Council may attach any condition to the licence that it feels are necessary and expedient 

for securing the objectives above. 
 
B6.  If the Council has any concerns about the welfare of the animals kept under this licence, it 

may request that a vet conducts a further visit to ascertain if the measures in place are 
acceptable which would be chargeable to the licence holder. 

 
B7  All selling animals as pets undertaken as a commercial business should have a trade waste 

contract, and inspecting Officers will request evidence of this at the time of inspection.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 83

http://www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Selling-Animals-as-Pets-Guidance.pdf
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Selling-Animals-as-Pets-Guidance.pdf


 24 

 
Appendix C. Hiring out horses licensing 
 

C1  All activities involving hiring out horses for riding, or instruction in riding, need to have a 
licence if they’re carried out as a commercial business. Further information on whether an 
activity would be considered a commercial business is contained in the relevant statutory 
guidance on Hiring out horses licensing, which the Council will have regard to. 

 
C2  To be in scope they must hire out horses for riding, or instruction in riding. This could include:  

- riding schools  
- loan horses  
- hunter hirelings  
- pony and donkey rides  
- polo instruction  
- pony parties where the ponies are ridden 

 
C3  For the hiring of horses, a listed Veterinarian must be appointed for the initial inspection, for a 

renewal inspection, and for the annual inspection for the hiring of horses. It is the Council’s 
policy to appoint the Veterinarian to undertake the inspection who will be independent and not 
one that is retained by the applicant / licence holder.  

 
C4  An application for a licence must be made to the Council on its application form, which is 

available from the Council’s website: www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing 
 
C5  Before granting a licence the Council must be satisfied that an establishment is compliant with 

at least the minimum standards outlined under the statutory guidance: 
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Hiring-Out-of-Horses-
Guidance.pdf 

 
C6  If the Council is satisfied that the requirements of the statutory guidance document are met, 

and there are no other concerns about the welfare of animals or the objectives of this policy 
being undermined, the licence will be granted. 

 
C7  The Council may attach any condition to the licence that it feels are necessary and expedient 

for securing the objectives above. 
 
C8 If the Council has any concerns about the welfare of the animals kept under this licence, it 

may request that a vet conducts a further visit to ascertain if the measures in place are 
acceptable which would be chargeable to the licence holder. 

 
C9  All hiring out horses undertaken as a commercial business should have a trade waste 

contract, and inspecting Officers will request evidence of this at the time of inspection.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 84

http://www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Hiring-Out-of-Horses-Guidance.pdf
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Hiring-Out-of-Horses-Guidance.pdf


 25 

 
Appendix D. Dog Breeding Licensing 
 
D1  All activities involving dog breeding, need to have a licence if they are carried out as a 

commercial business. Further information on whether an activity would be considered a 
commercial business is contained in the relevant statutory guidance on dog breeding 
licensing, which the Council will have regard to. In particular, there is a limit on the number of 
litters that dog breeders can have without a licence unless a breeder can prove that they will 
not sell any of the puppies from these litters as puppies or adults. 

 
D2  To be in scope, they must either:  

• breed 3 or more litters of puppies per year (unless they can show that none of the 
puppies have been sold as puppies or adults); 

• be breeding puppies and advertising a business of selling them (as defined under the 
business test). It is important to note that businesses need a licence regardless of the 
number of litters produced per year. This is not restricted to registered businesses. 
Individuals can also be classed as a business depending on the extent of their 
activities. 

 
D3  A vet must be appointed to undertake the initial inspection for licensed dog breeding licence 

applications. It is the Council’s policy to appoint the Veterinarian to undertake the inspection 
who will be independent and not one that is retained by the applicant / licence holder. 

 
D4  An application for a licence must be made to the Council on its application form, which is 

available from the Council’s website: www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing 
 
D5  Before granting a licence the Council must be satisfied that an establishment is compliant with 

at least the minimum standards outlined under the statutory guidance: 
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Dog-Breeding-
Guidance.pdf 

 
D6  If the Council is satisfied that the requirements of the statutory guidance document are met, 

and there are no other concerns about the welfare of animals or the objectives of this policy 
being undermined, the licence will be granted. 

 
D7  The Council may attach any condition to the licence that it feels are necessary and expedient 

for securing the objectives above. 
 
D8  If the Council has any concerns about the welfare of the animals kept under this licence, it 

may request that a vet conducts a further visit to ascertain if the measures in place are 
acceptable which would be chargeable to the licence holder. 

 
D9  All dog breeding undertaken as a commercial business should have a trade waste contract, 

and inspecting Officers will request evidence of this at the time of inspection. 
 
 
 

Page 85

http://www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Dog-Breeding-Guidance.pdf
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Dog-Breeding-Guidance.pdf


 26 

 
Appendix E. Keeping or Training Animals for Exhibition Licensing 
 

E1  All keeping or training animals for exhibition activities need a licence if they’re carried out as a 
commercial business. Further information on whether an activity would be considered a 
commercial business is contained in the relevant statutory guidance on keeping or training 
animals for exhibition activities. 

 
E2  An application for a licence must be made to the Council on its application form, which is 

available from the Council’s website: www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing 
 
E3.  Before granting a licence the Council must be satisfied that an establishment is compliant with 

at least the minimum standards outlined under the statutory guidance:  
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Keeping-or-Training-
Animals-for-Exhibition-Guidance.pdf 
 

E4  If the Council is satisfied that the requirements of the statutory guidance document are met, 
and there are no other concerns about the welfare of animals or the objectives of this policy 
being undermined, the licence will be granted. 

 
E5  The Council may attach any condition to the licence that it feels are necessary and expedient 

for securing the objectives above. 
 
E6  If the Council has any concerns about the welfare of the animals kept under this licence, it 

may request that a vet conducts a further visit to ascertain if the measures in place are 
acceptable which would be chargeable to the licence holder. 

 
E7 As stated in Section 6 above, the Council is not required to undertake a risk rating in relation 

to licences for the activity of keeping or training animals for exhibition, and as such no star 
rating will be issued for these licences. All licences for the activity of keeping or training 
animals for exhibition are granted for 3 years. 

 
E8  All keeping or training animals for exhibition activities undertaken as a commercial business 

should have a trade waste contract, and inspecting Officers will request evidence of this at the 
time of inspection. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 86

http://www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Keeping-or-Training-Animals-for-Exhibition-Guidance.pdf
https://localgovernmentanimalwelfare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Keeping-or-Training-Animals-for-Exhibition-Guidance.pdf


 27 

 
 
Appendix F. Dangerous Wild Animal Licensing 
 

F1  Anyone who keeps an animal scheduled as a dangerous wild animal must be licensed under 
the Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976. A full list of animals that need a licence can be seen 
here: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/2465/schedule/made. 

  
F2  The Dangerous Wild Animals Act (DWA) of 1976 aims to ensure that where private 

individuals keep dangerous wild animals they do so in circumstances which create no risk to 
the public and safeguard the welfare of the animals. 

 
F3  When applications for a DWA licence are received, the Council will instruct a suitably 

experienced Veterinarian and/or other relevant professionals to obtain the appropriate advice 
to ensure that any special needs of the animal are fulfilled and the applicant is a suitable 
person to hold such a licence. The Council must also be satisfied that it would not be contrary 
to public interest on the grounds of safety or nuisance. Special needs in this context mean the 
suitability of accommodation, heating, lighting and appropriate foodstuffs and enrichment for 
the species identified in the application. 

 
F4  A person is held to be the keeper of the animal if they have it in their possession. The 

assumption of possession continues even if the animal escapes or it is being transported. 
This removes the need for carriers or veterinary surgeons to be licensed. 

 
F5  An application for a Dangerous Wild Animal licence must be made to the Council on its 

application form, which is available on the Council’s website along with detailed guidance 
notes: www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing 
 

F6  In order to ensure compliance with our duties to ensure that an individual has not been 
disqualified from holding a licence, upon application or renewal the Council will require the 
applicant for a DWA Licence to provide a basic disclosure (DBS) certificate issued within 3 
months of the date of application.  

 
F7 Once the Council receives an application for the grant or renewal of a licence it will do the 

following before granting or renewing a licence:  
 

• The Council will ensure that the applicant has not been disqualified from keeping 
dangerous wild animals.  

• An Officer of the Council will inspect the relevant premises in conjunction with a 
suitably experienced Veterinarian/ animal expert and assess if it is likely to meet 
the requirements of the legislation.  

• Inspection reports will contain information about the suitability of the 
accommodation, suitability of the applicant in terms of their handling skill / 
experience and their views on qualification relating to species. The vet/ expert will 
also consider the animal’s ability to express their natural behaviour, and the 
knowledge of the owner to promote the animal’s welfare. The report will then be 
sent to the Council for consideration.  

• Ensure that the appropriate fees have been paid. 
 
 

Page 87

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/2465/schedule/made
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing


 28 

 
F8 The Council will not grant a licence unless it is satisfied that:  
 

• it would not be contrary to the public interest on the grounds of safety, nuisance or 
otherwise; 

• the applicant is deemed to be a suitable person to hold a licence and is adequately 
insured; 

• animals will be held in secure accommodation to prevent them from escaping; 

• accommodation for animals is suitable with regards to the construction, size, 
temperature lighting, ventilation, drainage and cleanliness, and which is suitable for the 
number of animals proposed to be held in the accommodation;  

• animals are provided with adequate food, drink and bedding materials and will be 
visited at suitable intervals;  

• appropriate steps will be taken for the protection of any animal concerned in case of fire 
or other emergency;  

• appropriate steps will be taken to prevent and control the spread of infectious diseases;  

• while any animal is at the premises where it will normally be held, its accommodation is 
such that it can take adequate exercise. 

 
F9 Where the Council determines that a licence shall be granted it is a requirement of the 

legislation to apply several mandatory licence conditions that shall apply for the duration of 
the licence:  

 

• the animal shall be kept by no person other than such person or persons as is or are 
specified (whether by name or description) in the licence; 

• the animal shall normally be held at such premises as are specified in the licence; 

• the animal shall not be moved from those premises or shall only be moved from them 
in such circumstances as are specified in the licence; 

• the person to whom the licence is granted shall hold a current insurance policy which 
insures him and any other person entitled to keep the animal under the authority of the 
licence against liability for any damage which may be caused by the animal; and 

• the terms of any such policy shall be satisfactory in the opinion of the authority. 
 
F10  The Council may also, in granting a licence under this legislation, specify such conditions on 

the licence as it thinks fit. The Council will give careful consideration to additional conditions 
proposed for a licence, including the comments of the Veterinarian/ expert on any proposed 
conditions. Where the Council places conditions on a licence they will be based, wherever 
practicable, on existing codes of best practice and industry standards. At all times the Council 
will bear in mind it’s primary objectives in relation to Dangerous Wild Animal Licensing, which 
are to protect the public, and also to ensure appropriate animal welfare standards. 

 
F11  Where a condition is applied on a licence to permit an animal to be, for any continuous period 

exceeding 72 hours, at premises outside the area of the Council, the Council will contact the 
local authority in whose area those premises are situated. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



 29 

 
F12  The Council is permitted by regulations to vary licences at any time by specifying new 

conditions, or amending or revoking previously applied conditions. Where variation of the 
licence conditions is proposed by the licence holder, the variation of the licence will have 
immediate effect. In other cases, the Licence Holder will be given a reasonable period of time 
to familiarise themselves with the new requirements and ensure compliance.  

 
F13  Applicants/ licence holders have a right of appeal against the refusal, revocation, or variation 

of the licence. Appeals should be made to the Magistrates Court within 21 days of receiving 
notification of the refusal/ revocation/ variation. 

 
F14  In the event of the death of a licence holder the licence shall continue in force for a period of 

28- days as if it had been granted to the personal representatives of the deceased, and if an 
application is made for a new licence within the 28-day period, the licence shall be deemed to 
be still in force pending the grant or refusal of that application. 

 
F15 Premises licensed under the Dangerous Wild Animals Act are not risk rated and licences, if 

issued, are valid for 2 years.  
 
F16  Although not a statutory requirement, the Council will aim to provide licence holders with 

approximately 3 months’ notice of when their licence is due to expire. Licence holders must 
then submit an application at least 10 weeks before their licence expires. It is the licence 
holder’s responsibility to ensure that any renewal application is made in good time, and the 
Council cannot be held responsible for any delays or lapses of a licence caused by an 
incomplete or late application.  

 
F17  Provided that a valid application is received prior to the expiry the licence, the licence shall be 

deemed to be still in force pending the grant or refusal of the said application, and if it is 
granted the new licence shall commence from the date of the expiry of the last licence. 

 

Page 89



 30 

Appendix G. Zoo Licensing 
 
Do you need a zoo licence from Torridge District Council? 
 

G1  If you intend to operate a zoo in the Torridge area, it will be necessary for you to gain a zoo 
licence from the Council.  

 
G2  The Zoo Licensing Act 1981 defines a "zoo" as an establishment where wild animals are kept 

for exhibition to the public other than for purposes of a circus or in a pet shop (separate 
licences are required). This Act applies to any zoo, which members of the public have access 
to, with or without an admission charge, on more than seven days in any 12 months. 

 
G3  An application for a Zoo licence must be made to the Council on its application form, which is 

available on the Council’s website along with detailed guidance notes: 
 www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing 

 

Application process 
 
G4  The licensing of zoos is a specialist field and the regulations are complex. The Council works 

in close partnership with DEFRA. Details on the legislation and the Secretary of State's 
Standards of Modern Zoo Practice can be found on the DEFRA website: 

 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/zoo-licensing-act-1981-guide-to-the-act-s-
provisions 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/secretary-of-state-s-standards-of-modern-zoo-
practice 

 
G5  If you are thinking of setting up a zoo, we recommend you contact us first for advice and 

guidance. The Council cannot consider an application unless at least two months notice of the 
application has been given, plus details have been published in a local and national 
newspaper, and a notice has been placed at the site. Once this period of time has lapsed, an 
application form can be submitted along with the current fee. 

 
G6  Before the Council can grant a licence for a zoo, it must be satisfied that: 
  

• the establishment will not injuriously affect the health and safety of people living in the 
neighbourhood; 

• the establishment will not affect the preservation of law and order; 

• the accommodation, staffing and management are adequate for the proper care and 
well-being of the animals. 

 
G7 The Council will consult the following in relation to your application:  
  

•  Police; 

•  Fire authority;  

•  Governing body of any national institute concerned with the operation of zoos;  

•  Planning authority; 

•  The Council's Health and Safety team. 
 

Page 90

http://www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/zoo-licensing-act-1981-guide-to-the-act-s-provisions
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/zoo-licensing-act-1981-guide-to-the-act-s-provisions
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/secretary-of-state-s-standards-of-modern-zoo-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/secretary-of-state-s-standards-of-modern-zoo-practice


 31 

G8  The Council will arrange an inspection by a consultant inspector(s) from a list of suitable 
inspectors nominated by the Secretary of State. The inspector will produce a report of their 
findings and, based on the report and other considerations, the local authority will grant or 
refuse to grant a licence. This process may involve determination by the Council’s Licensing 
Committee. If your licence is refused, you will receive a written statement of the grounds for 
refusal. 

 
The applicant 
 
G9  The Council may refuse to grant a licence if you, or any director, manager, secretary or other 

similar officer of the body, or any person employed as a keeper in the zoo, has been 
convicted of an offence under the Zoo Licensing Act 1981 or an offence under any of the 
following involving the ill-treatment of animals: 

 

• the Protection of Animals Acts 1911 to 1964  

• the Protection of Animals (Scotland) Acts 1912 to 1964  

• the Pet Animals Act 1951  

• the Animals (Cruel Poisons) Act 1962 

• the Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963  

• the Riding Establishments Act 1964 and 1970  

• the Breeding of Dogs Act 1973  

• the Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976  

• the Endangered Species (Import and Export) Act 1976  

• part I of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

• sections 4, 5, 6(1) and (2), 7 to 9 and 11 of the Animal Welfare Act 2006 

• section 13(6) of the Animal Welfare Act 2006, so far as the offence arises from the 
contravention of section 13(1) of that Act in relation to dog breeding in Wales 

• section 13(6) of the Animal Welfare Act 2006, so far as the offence arises from the 
contravention of section 13(1) of that Act in relation to the carrying on of an activity in 
England; 

• the Animal Welfare (Breeding of Dogs) (Wales) Regulations 2014 

• Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018 

• sections 28C or 28F(16) of the Animal Health Act 1981 

• sections 19 to 24, 25(7), 29 or 40(11) of the Animal Health and Welfare (Scotland) Act 
2006 

 
G10  In order to ensure compliance with our duties to ensure that an individual has not been 

disqualified from holding a licence, upon application or renewal the Council will require any 
director, manager, secretary or other similar officer of the body, or any person employed as a 
keeper in the zoo, to provide a basic disclosure (DBS) certificate issued within 3 months of 
the date of application.  

 
Planning requirements 
 
G11  When applying for a licence, you will need to consider whether planning permission is 

required for the proposed licensed activity. You should contact the Council’s Planning Team 
to discuss whether permission will be needed. In the event that planning permission is 
required then any decision to grant a zoo licence will be suspended until such time as the 
planning application has been granted.  

Page 91



 32 

 
Licences 
 
G12  Each original licence will run for four years, with consecutive renewals running for six years. 

Failure or late application for renewal may invalidate any public liability insurance for the 
premises. A copy of the licence must be displayed at every public entrance of the 
establishment. 

 
G13  Changes to the licence, for example name changes and ownership changes, can be carried 

out at the request of the operator. A licence can also be transferred to another person with the 
approval of the Council (a basic disclosure certificate will be required for the proposed new 
licence holder). There is an application form for the transfer of a licence, which must be 
submitted with the relevant fee. The application can be found via the link to the Council 
webpages above.  

 
G14  In the event of a licence holder dying, the licence shall be deemed to be granted to their 

personal representatives and will remain in force for up to three months, or longer with our 
approval. 

 
G15  For small zoos, or for a zoo exhibiting only a small number of different kinds of animals, the 

Secretary of State has powers to relax the requirements of the Act. In such instances the 
Council can seek a direction that the Act shall not apply at all (Section 14(1)(a)) or that certain 
category of inspection is not required (Section 14(1)(b)). 

 
G16  Alternatively, on applying to the Secretary of State for a zoo licence, you may be granted a 

dispensation (Section 14(2)) to reduce the number of inspectors to a reasonable level for a 
small establishment. This will not reduce the zoo’s obligation to achieve the levels of animal 
welfare and public safety set out in the Secretary of State’s Standards. 

 
What conditions will be attached to a licence? 
 
G17 The Zoo Licensing Act 1981 specifies various conservation measures that must be 

undertaken by a zoo and these will be attached as conditions to a zoo licence.  
 
G18 Torridge District Council also has discretion to attach any conditions it deems necessary or 

desirable for the proper conduct of the zoo. 
 
G19 The Secretary of State issues guidance of standards of practice that zoos should meet which 

apply in England. Copies of the Secretary of State’s Standards of Modern Zoo Practice are 
available on the DEFRA website via the link above. 

 
Inspection types 
 
Periodic inspections 
 

G20 Periodic inspections by inspectors appointed by the Secretary of State will take place at the 
following intervals: 

 
 
 

Page 92



 33 

 

•  in the case of an original licence, an inspection will be carried out in the first year and no 
later than six months before the end of the fourth year; 

•  in the case of a renewal inspection in the third year and no later than six months before 
the end of the sixth year. 

 
G21  Up to three inspectors appointed by Torridge District Council will visit the premises and at 

least one of these will be a qualified veterinary surgeon or practitioner. Meanwhile, up to two 
may be nominated from the Secretary of State approved list. Only one is necessary if they 
fulfil both of the requirements above. 

 
G22  Torridge District Council will give you at least 28 days-notice of our intention to inspect your 

premises and will inform you of the names of the inspectors. You can in turn appeal against 
all or any of them. 

 
G23  As the zoo operator, you may allow three representatives to accompany the inspection team. 

The inspection team will submit a report to Torridge District Council who will in turn send a 
copy to you within a month of its receipt. 

 
Special inspections 
 
G24  Torridge District Council has the right to make special inspections in any circumstances, 

which in our opinion call for investigation. As the zoo operator, you must be given notice of 
the purpose and scope of the inspection and if the investigation involves animal inspection, at 
least one inspector will be a qualified vet with experience of zoos and zoo animals.  

 
Informal inspections 
 
G25  In any calendar year where no other inspection has taken place, an informal inspection will be 

carried out by an appointed person from Torridge District Council. 
 
Renewing a licence 
 
G26  Torridge District Council will give at least nine months-notice of the expiry date of your 

licence. Your application to renew the licence should then be made at least six months before 
the expiry of the existing licence. 

 
Records required to be kept 
 
G27 The records required to be kept by a zoo will be largely dependent on the conditions imposed 

on a particular operator. However, typical requirements include providing Torridge District 
Council with a copy of a zoo’s public liability insurance, annual stock list, intention of providing 
hazardous animals. 

 
Offences and penalties 
 
G28 The following offences and penalties are created under Section 19 of the Zoo Licensing Act 

1981:  
 

• operating a zoo without a licence in contravention of the Act; 

Page 93



 34 

• failing without reasonable excuse to comply with any conditions of a licence; 

• intentionally obstructing an inspector in the course of an inspection;  

• intentionally obstructing someone who is authorised in accordance with Section 16G to 
enter the premises of a permanently closed zoos or a dwelling within the zoo grounds; 

• failing without reasonable excuse with a direction issued under section 16A(2)(d) to 
close a zoo or part of it to the public for a period not exceeding two years;  

• failing without reasonable excuse to comply with a zoo closure direction; 

• failing without reasonable excuse to supply information requested by the local authority 
about the care or disposal of zoo animals in the event of a zoo closure; 

• failing without reasonable excuse and without the agreement of the authority, to 
dispose of any animal kept at a permanently closed zoo before the plan in section 
16E(2) has been approved by the authority, or other than in accordance with the 
agreed plan; 

• failing without reasonable excuse to comply with a direction issued under section 
16E(6) (direction about the welfare or disposal of animals kept in a permanently closed 
zoo); 

• failing without reasonable excuse to display the zoo licence or a copy at each entrance 
of the zoo. 

 
G29  Under Section 19(4), if you are found guilty of any offence above, you are liable to a fine of 

level 4 (currently £2,500), except obstructing an inspector, failing to supply information about 
the care or disposal of zoo animals in the event of zoo closure, or failing to display the licence 
or copy of it at each zoo entrance area for which are liable to a fine of level 3 (currently 
£1,000). 

 
Rights of entry 
 
G30  Local authority officers and accompanied by the appointed veterinary surgeon may inspect 

zoo premises, having given 28 days’ notice in writing. There is currently no power of entry to 
unlicensed premises. 

 
Fees 
 
G31  A completed application (for the grant, renewal or transfer of a licence) must be submitted 

with the correct fee and in addition the applicant will need to pay any associated veterinary 
fees for DEFRA nominated inspectors. 

 
How long will it take to process my application? 
 
G32  We will try to contact you within five days of receiving notice of your intention to apply for a 

licence. If you have not heard from us within this period, please contact us to ensure your 
notice was correctly made and received. We will then have two months to make the 
necessary arrangements in preparation of the next stage in the process. 

 
G33  It is not possible to provide an exact time period for the grant or refusal of a licence. 

Timescales will vary depending on the size and nature of each individual application. 
Comments gained in the consultation period and from the inspectors report may vary widely, 
and some applications may need to go before the council’s Licensing Committee for 
determination. 

 

Page 94



 35 

Right of appeal 
 
G34  If you wish to challenge a refusal to be granted a licence, or any conditions to a licence, you 

can appeal to the Magistrates Courts. 
 
Complaints 
 
G35  If you want to make a complaint about a zoo premises, please contact us. If you feel we have 

failed to provide you with good service or are concerned about the progress of your 
application, please telephone the Licensing Team and we will try to resolve any concerns you 
may have. The Council also has a formal complaints procedure. 

 
Further information 
 
G36 Copies of the Zoo Licensing Act 1981 and Zoo Licensing Act 1981 (Amendment) (England 

and Wales) Regulations 2002 can be found free online via the links below:  
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/37/contents 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/3080/contents 

 
G37 Further information on zoos operating in England, as well managing health and safety in zoos, 

is available from DEFRA. 
 
G38 The Animal Welfare Act 2006, places responsibilities for care and welfare of an animal, on 

persons who are in charge of or are responsible for the animal, whether on a permanent or 
temporary basis. Again, more information is available from DEFRA 

 
Relevant trade associations 

• World Association of Zoos and Aquariums (WAZA)  

• British and Irish Association of Zoos and Aquariums (BIAZA)  

• Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons (RCVS) 
 

Page 95

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/37/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/3080/contents


LICENSING COMMITTEE – FORWARD PLAN 2022/2023 
 

2022/23 

 

Cycle 1 

 

Cycle 2 Cycle 3    Cycle 4 

 

Cycle 5 

 

Cycle 6 

 

Cycle 7 

 

Cycle 8 

 

 22 June 
2022 

 

27 July 2022 
 

7 Sept 2022 
 

19 Oct 2022 
 

30 Nov 2022 
 

25 Jan 2023 8 March 2023  

 10am 10am 10am 10am 10am 10am 10am  

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

Taxi Demand 
Study  

 
Animal 

Licensing 

Policy  

  

 

 

 

P
age 96

A
genda Item

 9


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	3 Action List
	7 Taxi Demand Survey
	7a - Appendix A - Demand Study

	8 Animal Licensing Policy
	8a - Appendix B - Animal Licensing Policy

	9 Consideration of the Forward Plan

